

DISCOVERING THE STRENGTH OF OUR VOICES

BY BETTY-ANN LLOYD

"It is difficult to help others discover the strength of their voices if we are speaking in whispers ourselves."

We acknowledge and thank the National Literacy Program, Multiculturalism and Citizenship Canada, for their financial contribution towards the research for this project.

The views expressed in this report do not necessarily reflect the views of the funder.

Permission to reprint any portion of this document must be obtained in writing from the Canadian Congress for Learning Opportunities for Women.

This work is dedicated to the women who spoke with us during visits to the four communities.

With thanks to:

Cowichan Campus, Malaspina College, Duncan, BC
Rabbitown Community Literacy Program, St. John's, NF
WISE, St. John's, NF
Teachers On Wheels, St. John's, NF
Avalon Community College, St. John's, NF
Iris Kirby House, St. John's, NF
East End Literacy, Toronto, ON
Toronto ALFA Centre, Toronto, ON
Regent Park Learning Centre, Toronto, ON
Arctic College, Arviat, NWT

Designed and produced by Betty Ann Lloyd and Brenda Conroy, Work for Women Cooperative Limited, Halifax, Nova Scotia Cover Design by Art & Facts Design and Communications, Toronto Printing by Jaguar Printing Toronto ©1991, Canadian Congress for Learning Opportunities for Women, 47 Main Street, Toronto, Ontario M4E 2V6

ISBN 0-921283-09-1

Table of Contents

- 1. The first phase of the research was an exploratory process-to discover focus questions
 - 1-1 Goals for the research project; objectives for this first, exploratory phase
 - 1-2 The research process during this first phase: the ways in which the research was organized
 - 1-3 The "facts" concerning the visits to four Canadian communities
- 2. Four vignettes: What does it mean to think and talk about ourselves as "women"?
 - 2-1 What do we do when we begin to talk among ourselves as women?
 - 2-2 When we begin to listen to women's stories, what do we hear about ourselves?
 - 2-3 Why do we need to pay attention to women's stories once we begin to hear them?
 - <u>2-4 When we hear women's stories about their lives, how do we begin to "do" literacy?</u>
- 3. How can we understand what we hear when we listen to women- then ask questions, look at our assumptions and identify issues
 - <u>3-1 The words women spoke during the visits have been organized into 21 interconnected themes</u>
 - 3-2 These themes clarified the issues and assumptions behind this first phase
 - 3-3 Reflecting on the themes, issues and assumptions led to certain interpretations of this first phase,
 - 3-4 Three questions focused the reflections that came out of this first phase
- 4. What do we want to do next? What could the second phase of this research look like?
 - 4-1 The questions that can inform the process of the second, action/participatory phase
 - 4-2 The commitment of CCLOW for the second phase
 - 4-3 The commitment of the programs that participate
 - 4-4 Possible program activities during the second phase of the research

5. Appendices

- 5-1 The Canadian Congress for Learning Opportunities for Women (CCLOW)-the sponsor
- 5-2 The national advisory committee members and the researcher 5-3 A beginning bibliography

1.1 Goals for the research project Objectives for the first, exploratory stage

The original proposal outlined goals for both the first, exploratory stage and the second, action research stage:

- to examine how gender and the power balance of the male/female relationship affect women's access to, and experience of, literacy programs and how it affects the impact of literacy programs on women,
- to determine how literacy programs and literacy practice might be changed to better respond to the reality of the lives of adult women learners, and
- to share this information with women literacy students and workers, through print materials and in workshops, to foster the development of relevant, appropriate, and accessible literacy learning opportunities for women.

The first, exploratory phase of the research had the following objectives:

- to talk with women literacy students and workers who are currently involved in literacy programs,
- to develop key questions out of the "data" of the women's stories, and
- to develop a research design to investigate these questions further using an action research model.

1 This first phase of the research project was an exploratory process -to discover some questions that might focus the next stage

Much of the research already completed on women's experience and literacy programs looks at how women are affected by their involvement or lack of involvement in literacy programs. To some extent, this reflects the point of view that programs are organized to "fix" the people who participate, rather than the structures within which the people live, work and study.

Also, much of the work with women's experience and literacy programs has been theoretical or directed toward policy development. The social construction of women's reality and the role of gender in determining their involvement and success in upgrading has been a major focus. Research already completed by CCLOW has determined that women experience particular barriers to learning and that these barriers may be individually overcome through such things as flexible program schedules, childcare, transportation, counselling and other support services, and appropriate curriculum and

materials (MacKeracher et al. n.d.).

CCLOW research has also determined that government policy development in terms of equal pay for work of equal value and equal employment opportunity (including affirmative action) are essential for women's participation in educational and training activities. Without the restructuring of both work and family life in the formal and nonformal sectors of the economy, women will continue to struggle with the double and triple day and with the expectation of subordinate status on both a private and public level. This restructuring requires not only effective policy development but also public education and community action (for example, Wismer 1988).

CCLOW and the national advisory committee conceived of the first phase of this project as taking the research one step further-exploring the ways in which a national, action research project could begin to document the realities of women's experience as they actually worked within literacy programs as students and as staff. At the program level this would be participatory research. It would be based on a social context model of literacy, intended to raise essential questions about women's experience in literacy programs within the context of their entire lives.

The theoretical methodology would be action research: "the systematic collection and analysis of information for the purpose of informing political action and social change." (Barnsley et al.)

This first phase would include input from women in literacy programs. The second phase would include involvement of women in literacy programs.

1-2 Origins of the research design for this first phase

A national advisory group of CCLOW members developed the initial proposal, conceptualized the project and hired the researcher. The design of the first stage took part within a framework developed during a teleconference call between the researcher, committee members and the executive director. Much of it built on discussions among the advisory committee members during the preceding months. We agreed that the researcher would:

- visit four communities and have conversations with women in literacy programs (the four communities were determined by geographic considerations, the programs in the community and advisory committee members' availability to take part in the process),
- prepare a final report for the first phase using the data from the visits,
- develop research questions and a methodology for a long-term national action research project that would be carried out in partnership with a variety of programs,
- develop a proposal for this second phase project.

1-3 The research process during the first phase-the ways in which it was organized

As the researcher for this first, exploratory of phase, I want to provide the context in which the work took place. The mandate of CCLOW, outlined in Appendix 5-1, provided the guiding principles. The advisory committee members, described in 5-2, contributed and their interpretations of these principles and their own perspectives during the process. My experience as researcher, also outlined in 5-2, greatly influenced what words were said and where there were silences, what words were heard and how the silences were observed, how the words and the silences were on built into a narrative and how that narrative is presented.

In this section, I will set out the chronological structure of what happened during the research process. In section 1-4 are the "facts" about the communities I visited and the people I spoke with. In the next section are four snapshots of the communities, are structured around the questions that guided the experiential learning process of the in research. After that, I have included the questions I formulated at the beginning of the research, immediately after visiting each community, midway through the research and at the end of the research. These are connected to the themes that emerged from the conversations at the same time that they and provide a framework. By providing this sense of the process, I hope we begin to understand how the "data" and the analysis developed.

I started in early May 1990 by setting up an administrative framework and travel schedule. I did some re-reading in research and in women and literacy to immerse myself in the project. At the same time, I had several intense conversations with women about the ethics of feminist research, particularly research with women who are participating in literacy and upgrading programs. I studied CCLOW research documents, minutes and mission statements to develop a sense of the organization's mandate and current direction. (The bibliography is available in Appendix 5-3.)

1-4 The "facts" concerning the visits to the communities

I visited four very different communities: one on the west coast, one on the east coast, one in central Canada and one in the north. They have populations of 1,200 people, 4,225 people, 96,216 people and 606,000 people.

I spent four days in the west coast community. I talked formally with 24 people, all of them involved with the same community college campus. Twenty-two are women and two are men. Two work as administrators, two are volunteer tutors, two are support staff, two are counsellors, five are instructors, two are community education workers and nine are students.

I spent four days in the east coast community, talking with 17 people. All of them are women. One is a community activist with a history of adult education and literacy work

with women. Three women work at a community-based program, one is a student in that program. I met with a community college instructor, three women who work at a bridging program for women and three women who work at a transition house for women who have been battered by men. I met with four tutors and a staff member of a volunteer one-to-one program.

I spent five days in a central Canadian community and met with 10 people, nine women and one man. One teaches English as a second language in a union-based program, five are literacy workers in community-based programs, one is a volunteer tutor and board member, one is a student and two are researchers. I also met with CCLOW staff.

I spent five days in a northern community. I met with 10 people, nine women and one man. Three are instructors, two are administrators, one is a bureaucrat and four are students. All but one are associated with the community college campus.

In all, I met with 61 people, more or less formally, in interview or group discussions. Thirty-four participate at some level in community college programs. Twenty are involved in community-based programs. Three sit somewhere in between. Three are researchers and one is a bureaucrat, involved in literacy and upgrading.

Fifty-seven are women, four are men. I have made some assumptions around race: that 48 are white and 13 are Black, East Indian, Native or Inuit. Fifteen were adult upgrading students at the time I talked with them. Others indicated they had been adult upgrading students in the recent past. I don't know everyone's age, but I will guess that eight might be under 30, 45 between 30-45 and eight over 45.

While the numbers may give you one small part of the picture, they can really tell you almost nothing. For example, a fact may be that 34 people work within the context of three different community college programs. A truth is that each campus was completely different from the other and perhaps none of them fit anyone's stereotype of "a community college." This is true not only because some of the "institutions" were smaller in size than some of the "community programs," but also because some of the women in the community programs are working in more isolation from other women, particularly from feminist women, than some of the women within the "institutions."

I also began to travel and talk. In each community, I collected an average of 15 hours of taped interviews. I collected significant other information through observation and less formal discussion.

When I returned to my office, I reviewed all the tapes and transcribed those portions that spoke to questions that had arisen in other communities and that arose out of the most recent visit. I also recorded my own reflections in the context of the other work I had been doing for the project.

I focused these reflections in the research questions, and out of the questions came a growing and progressively more coherent set of issues and assumptions.

There were three teleconference calls with members of the advisory committee, supplemented by calls and contacts with individual members. I kept checking back that my own reflections were congruent with others who either knew the issues and communities or had a feminist research perspective that allowed them to ask useful questions.

At the half-way mark, writing the interim report gave me an opportunity to provide the first account of what was happening. At the same time, a day-long meeting with two researchers not directly involved in the project Elaine Gaber-Katz and Susan Wismer gave me an opportunity to present, defend and get a new perspective on what was actually happening both to the research and to my own place within it.

I then carried on with the last two visits, with the writing of a second interim report, a proposal for the National Literacy Secretariat for the second stage research and the writing of this final document.

I was contracted to do this research over "a minimum of 60 days." The minimum was spent by the time I began writing the final report and the process since then has been one of discovery that is difficult to chart in terms of time. I don't think any woman's life breaks down easily into time spent doing dishes or shopping separate from time spent asking questions and trying to find answers. Some of us, however, for brief periods of time have the privilege of combining the questions of our lives and the questions of our work. For that I am thankful.

2 What does it mean for us to think and talk about ourselves as "women"?

The women from each of the four communities I visited contributed something unique to this research.

Part of the uniqueness came from their location in time.

- When did I go to that particular community-in the first month of the research, or in the last?
- What questions did I want to explore at that particular time?
- Who did I speak to before I visited them?
- Who did I know came next?

Part of the uniqueness came from their location in space.

• How is the west coast different from the east?

- What can we say about southern Ontario cities?
- What can we say about northern territorial settlements?

Part of the uniqueness came from the lives of the particular women.

- How do women who are literacy students speak about their experience?
- Where do women who are paid literacy workers find their voice?
- In what sense do Native women in BC share a language with Inuit women?
- Do women with children tell the same stories? Women who are older?

These four shapshots of a particular experience in each community in no way tell the whole story of that visit. They do, however, focus the way in which my experience, as the researcher, was shaped by each visit. Part of this shaping comes from the experiential learning cycle:

I moved from beginning with basic questions and participating as an observer, to reflecting on my observations, conversations and readings, to trying to understand and analyze the experience through themes and issues, to strategizing around the next activity.

I focussed that experiential process after the visits with a set of questions:

- What do we do when we begin to talk among ourselves as women?
- When we begin to listen to women's stories, what do we hear about ourselves?
- Why do we need to pay attention to women's stories once we begin to hear them?
- When we hear women's stories about their lives, how do we begin to "do" literacy?

In the next section, the left-hand page contains excerpts from interviews from the community visit described on the right.

"We're all here to learn. It should be equal."

"I would be scared to talk. I don't know why. That's all. It's hard for me... I'm shy from ladies too, not only from men."

"I find it's harder because of ... sticking away from **everybody** because they don't treat me right... Because woman... because don't trust... because assaulted."

"Well, there's something I would like to say, but I think that it's way off. [Go for it.] Men have always had the power. And I guess it's, well, for me it's harder because I'm more open. I think girls are more open than boys and get hurt more. And like, your friends and all, they get closed up, to a point, and then everybody just sticks to themselves and you can't really get in touch. Like you can't be friends with anybody because they're shut off to a point. [Kind of like protection.] Hmmhmm."

"I think ladies have more responsibility than guys do. There's times when I drifted off because I know I left something undone and there were days I couldn't concentrate because I knew there was something I didn't do at home or someplace else... You can't really concentrate because we have more responsibility than a guy does. He can come and go and he doesn't have to look after the kids and cooking and cleaning and things that we have to do. I think that what we're kind of lacking is we don't give enough time for our self and we're not really thinking of us instead of a lot of other things."

"What she said. I want to come to school and I have to look after two families, my parents, my sister, sometimes my in-laws too. I decide I am coming to school. It's very hard. I wish somebody was there to help me, but nobody is there to help me. My husband he just go to work. He helps me, but not like..."

2-1 What do we do when we begin to talk among ourselves as "women"

A group of nine women students from a community college on the west coast is sitting around a table with one of their instructors and myself. We have agreed to meet for the next three days from 10:15 to 12:15. The sun is coming in through a wall of windows as we head into the last half hour of discussion for this first day. Already, we've gone round the table with questions like-

- How did you know there were classes here at this campus?
- What kind of changes did you have to make in your life in order to come?
- Did anyone help you make some of these changes?
- What surprised you about the classes?

Now an instructor, who is facilitating the group, talks a bit more about how I have come to find out about women's experience with upgrading programs. She asks us to think about how their experience, as women, might be different from the experience of the men who are at the college. It is clearly a difficult question and there is not a lot of response. Finally, one of the women says, "How would we know the difference?" Other women laughed in relief as they reflected back the statements, "We haven't been men. We don't know what their experience is!" Also, some words and body language said, "We haven't thought of ourselves as women here, different from the men."

Towards the end of the second day, the instructor asks the question:

• Do you think this group would be different if there were men here? There is an immediate vocal and body response to this question with many of us laughing, making faces and moving around.

There is much less hesitation around this question-partly because it is a more concrete question and partly because we've discussed being women for two days now. We feel free to agree and disagree with each other-despite our differences in age, race, culture and formal education.

Do you think this group would be different if there were men here?

- I think it would be extremely different! I think that a lot of us would shut up! I don't think we would be as open as we are in talking about the things we've been talking about Because...they're men.
- Maybe because you start to feel like they might not understand. It's like sometimes you're talking about certain things you just don't want to talk to men about. Because sometimes women just like to talk among themselves. I'm sure men are the same way. Because they feel sort of self conscious too in opening up their problems. They talk to other guys all the time. Or to their friends.
- Well usually when you're in a group discussion women are more apt to be more open... I think it's just because the way you feel, you feel a bit more uptight maybe ...You talk about how they're going to react...I feel a lot better in all-women groups just because you think well, she understands how I feel about it, just because she is a woman. Because she's got the same problems maybe. Just even though she's a different kind of person. You think, she knows how you feel. It's just easier talking. You feel more comfortable because they're the same as you.
- I like it better in a mixed group, really... Sometimes these men, it's good for them to know our problems. It's nice to be able to understand men, to tell them how you feel. Sometimes I think there's not enough communication between people. They do have all the same needs and wants. They do have all the same problems really.

"There's a little bit of fear on our part. What's going to be the point? They're going to tell us all this stuff and there's nothing we can do about it. They know there's nothing we can do about it. They just want to tell somebody else. And they don't have anybody they can talk to...Plus, we don't bring it outside...As if she sat down with her neighbour and said the same kind of thing well everybody on the street's going to know."

"I mean, women come in here with no self-esteem, Now, we can pretty much work with that... But we don't know how to deal with violence in the home. I mean, they're not going to leave the home anyway. But to be able to tell them how they might deal with it if they are home...How to deal even with large families who are probably always bugging her because one or the other's always needing attention, The baby's always crying or she's

having a hard time with the husband, Probably not violence on the part of beating, but nagging, or not there to help, or whatever, To be able to talk to and tell them, 'This is maybe what you could do or whatever'.

"If you're sitting down to me and you're telling me that, 'I have been sexually abused since the time that I was a child, my mother was a prostitute, I have been a prostitute.' And you're saying to me, 'what do I do, am I crazy". am I a dirty person, am I a terrible person.' I mean not having the experience of having helped women walk through some of that, it's where we really lacked. Luckily enough, there were enough connections with women at the transition house so I could call up a feminist counsellor and say, 'Look, this is what's going on. What do I say?'-'Well, let them talk. Cool it. Don't send them to this person.' But it's like feeling that you're on the edge of a cliff all the time and not quite knowing what's being stirred up here and whether there is special assistance needed or whatever. Not knowing was the biggest".

2-2 When we begin to listen to women's stories, what do we hear about ourselves?

In an east coast community centre, three paid literacy instructors, a literacy student and the program co-ordinator have got together over coffee and doughnuts to talk with me about women's experience and literacy programs. We're not sure how long we'll go on-there's about three hours left before lunch. The program itself is finished for the summer and everyone has just come in to chat.

Four of the women live in the immediate community. One has lived there in the past, but now lives further out. Two of the instructors were once students in the program. The third instructor was a volunteer before she came on as paid staff. The coordinator has been an instructor as well as one of the founding mothers.

We told each other a lot of stories as children played downstairs and other community workers drifted in and out. I had my "interview schedule," a list of topics that I like to cover during each time together. But the conversation kept coming back to what it means to be women listening to other women, hearing stories of poverty, violence, isolation and sexual abuse.

We obviously knew what the issues were. We knew about women who came to the program saying, "I can either get the bus to this program, or I can send my children to school with a lunch. That's my choice. I don't have money for both."

We talked together about what it meant to want not only to listen, but to have enough money to give her the bus fare, to feed her children. We also talked about not wanting to give advice, to give easy answers, as "experts," to incredibly difficult questions. Finally we started to look at the photo albums that highlighted the good times of partying,

travelling, showing off the learning. It became clear that, as women we have a lot of respect for ourselves and for others. But also it was clear that respect can be hard to hold on to in the face of trying to actually make a difference, in the face of poverty, violence, isolation and sexual abuse.

We can't keep talking if we feel so bad, like we can't get on ...

- But [group] got to be too much for us after a while. I got to the point that I couldn't-because I didn't know what to do with it.
- They were taking the hurt home with them. And they were sat down at home with this good meal, wondering if [the others] had a meal at all.
- It really gets to be ...
- You can't save the world.
- ...I know that but it doesn't help.
- I mean how much can you take in and then let it go. A lot of people can leave at five and forget it. I'm not one of those. And then when you have an outside life besides, it's like too much. And you need someone to tell you things so that you can learn how to let that go when you leave. So someone like that would be really good. Because someone like me...
- Yes, me too. You can't let it go. You bring it home with you.
- They tell you things that are really mindboggling. Things that you read about and you don't tend to believe and then all of a sudden you're sitting with a person that's living that lifestyle and it's really hard
- even to feel comfortable with your response
- because you can make an awful big mistake. They can walk out through the door and you might never see them again or they took you wrong...

"The women's program changed the program and me and everybody here on how we work with women. [Because?] Because we talked about it. And we were forced to look at things that we didn't have to look at, in order to make it accessible to women."

"I think that a lot of things get talked about here. They get talked about because something happens and everybody will talk about it on staff. So there seems to be concern. And yet, lots of times, whatever we've thought about or we've said we would do, doesn't go anywhere. And, actually, like again, I think that some of it has to do with the fact that literacy isn't considered to be-like that isn't the main work of literacy, dealing with that stuff. Although we all know that we do, to some extent. But because it's not clearly acknowledged it's hard to find the time or the place or the way to go through what you wanted to do or what everybody said they wanted to do. And to actually feel that you're

dealing with what you're feeling. And so I think that we probably talk a lot more about issues than we actually act on here... I don't really know how to make a transition. I haven't known how to make a transition from a place that was about dealing with that to a place that doesn't have any mechanism for dealing with it. Even though people talk about it... "

"The staff all kind of had a discussion about [possible sexual assault incident]. And we realized that he was preventing her, and then subsequent women-I mean we were trying to be learner-centred in giving this guy literacy, but felt that he was a barrier to women in the program. And see, he was really smart. It was really hard to pin him down between his rights as an individual and his-because we're not detectives and we're not lawyers-his rights as an individual and his freedom. Because we say literacy is a right- his right to have literacy. But we always would go in favour of the women, saying that because there had been other barriers in people's lives, this was one more barrier. I mean you get in and then you get harassed."

2-3 Why do we need to pay attention to women's stories once we begin to hear them?

In the central Canadian city that I visited, there are a large number of community-based programs. Several of them have developed classes or working groups particularly for women. Others have a large majority of women participants. I visited some of these programs and talked with a variety of literacy workers-paid staff and volunteers, women and men.

We met in the programs, surrounded by materials, students, other literacy workers. I wanted to start talking about what happens when programs decide to focus on women. How do the programs change when they become more conscious of women's lives, women's reality? How do the women themselves, students and workers, change? What happens with the men?

As we talked, it seemed like layers of meaning peeled away for us all. "It sort of just filters down into probably a lot of small things, or not small things, but things that are subtle...You look at it and then you start to see all these little layers underneath. It's really strange."

As we talked, we seemed to be taking all the "little layers," all the "small things" and putting together a picture that could be used to finish the phrase, "Maybe this is why that happened, maybe..."

One of the women talked about how, as she listened to other women's stories and heard what they were saying, she had to learn about cruelty. She had to learn how cruel people could be. Once she learned that, she had to begin to see the cruelty all around herincluding in her own program. Then, she had to decide what it meant that women were

now telling their stories, and programs didn't seem to be responding.

Another worker expressed the lack of response in another way: "I guess we work on crying needs around here ... We respond to crises." Women's stories are about their everyday lives and, distressing though they may be, for most people it requires a major change in perspective to see each one as worthy of attention. Not only worthy of attention in terms of individual "help," but in terms of saying something about our society.

Why does hearing women's stories make a difference?

- I think to some extent there is a lot of discussion around [differences between men and women] here among the staff. And I've wondered whether it came from the fact that a women's group was run here or maybe it always was. But I also heard [women students] remembering things that came from the women's group. Or understandings that happened. Like I think that the whole thing around trying to get a childcare fund really came or gelled from the women's group. I mean it may have been talked and thought about before, but I think that there, that there were actions actually taken about it.
- I think we do say that having done the women's group, and having discovered certain things, we now let those things change the organization and make it different. And that is true, I guess. But, it could not be true at the same time. And who's there to see if it's true or not? Certainly the [same] women students aren't there because the forum for the voices has gone
- In different ways forums **did** spring up again. Not because we did women's groups, but because we did that ... project, because of certain dynamics that were happening in the organization and different things that were happening. Women's voices did start getting heard again. It wasn't because we-our staff as an organization-were deliberately creating the space. It may be all right. I don't know. I don't know.

"I don't start with 'I am a woman.' No. I start 'I am a person.' I am a person like anybody else. I deserve to be treated like anybody else. I am a person before I am anything else. Before I am a woman, before I am a Native. Anything else. And I deserve to be heard. As a person, I can help somebody else, too. That is what gives me the greatest satisfaction is helping somebody else. And I think I was put here on earth to serve people because that's what makes me whole and that's what makes me happy. To help other people. Sometimes I don't act that way! Especially when I start off wrong-but I think for now it's my reason to be here: In this college, in this community, in this world. And when you are helping others, you learn a lot!"

"One girl took the first job she'd ever had in her life. It was a cashier at the grocery store But I think that took a certain amount of hauling yourself up out of a rut and saying I'm going to do this, earn a wage, Especially when her husband didn't work. It was putting herself in a vulnerable position. A threatening position. So it must have taken something inside of herself to do that. And she obviously took a lot of joy out of doing that, out of being in that job".

"The radio program is a very good idea for women, because they are the ones who are usually at home, listening to the radio. And that way they can learn to read and write, or they can help me, A lot of times they do-especially the elder women. They'll call me and say 'This is how you say this,' or 'No, it's done this way.' So they give us support. For some reason, Inuit women don't just come out and talk. Like I work here in the college. I hardly get any calls here during the day. But at the radio where everybody's listening and they can hear me, then they'll call me and give me advice. So there is an interest".

2-4 When we hear women's stories about their lives, how do we begin to "do" literacy?

I met with women in a variety of places in this northern community of 1,200. Out on the back stoop of a house, trying to catch the last of the summer's sun. In the adult learning centre of the community college. At "Stitch," a weekly get-together of women in the community. On the back of a four-wheel ATV going across the tundra to collect the best drinking water from a brook. Perched on beds in a motel room. In a living room with numbers of small children drifting in and out. At the co-op. Out on the road at night.

There are three literacy programs in this community, each of them with a formal structure. One of them is a women-only program in English, one is women and men in English, one is women and men in Inuktitut. There is also, clearly, an informal structure for each that fits not only women's lives here, but the lives of everyone who lives in a small, isolated community.

It reminded me of my life and work in a rural Cape Breton community and it was also unlike anything I had ever experienced before. It was easy not to be romantic about it all, because the hardships of northern life are very real and very present. On the other hand, it was difficult not to be drawn into the very direct way in which women look at what is actually happening and then begin to work out what that means for what they are doing.

If the need is to redefine "literacy" or redefine "programs" they seem to spend the time reflecting on the concrete needs of everyone in the community and the implications of what they are actually doing. The theory comes out of the practice.

As one woman said to me, "Just because something is true, does not mean it is true." So why should we stick to what has been real for others if it is not real for us?

She also said to me, "People in the south think too much!" Live with what you are doingjust let it be real on its own-as long as that reality comes out of experience rather than thinking too much!

I think I know that because I was there ...

- I think that feeling that you're not a person, that you're not important and what you say is not going to be heard and what you do is no good, because you can't do it-I think I know that because I was there...
- It took a long time to be able to say "I'm a person and I'm just as good as anybody else, sometimes even better." But I think I have proven to myself I can be what I want and I can use programs to better myself. That's the attitude I have towards everything-it has a great deal to do with what I have now
- The women who came to our evening upgrading-I know one that was even afraid to go out and now she talks and she visits around and almost seems a different person... I didn't see any improvements, great improvements, in her writing and reading skills, but her attitude and the way she acts towards the world is completely different now. And that is what I call literacy.
- She took control of part of her life that she wasn't controlling before. And to me that's literacy. Learning how to do things for yourself. And we see a lot of that. It's almost like watching a garden grow. Flowers blooming. That's what excites me is to see other people find themselves, how to watch out for themselves, help themselves.
- Because, I think especially here, women have to learn how to be proud of themselves, to think they're special, build their self-confidence. And once they get over that, they can almost do anything. If they want to do upgrading-they'll succeed. But if they keep on saying, "I'm just a woman. I'm just an Inuk. I don't have any skills... " They are special, I think. Until we learn to help them see that, I don't think we can do much more. We can drill them and drill them with mathematics and stuff like that. But what good is that if they won't use it because they lack self confidence?

3 How can we understand what we hear when we listen to women then ask questions, look at our assumptions and identify issues

As I participated in formal and informal conversations with women in the four communities, I realized at some point I would have to begin "understanding" what we were talking about. I would have to interpret what we were saying and what we weren't saying in terms of the research questions.

To a certain extent, that means I went into the conversations with an agenda-with a general list of topics I wanted to talk about. This agenda was not the same in each community. In the last section, I outlined how I heard some of what was said in terms of an experiential learning process. I also heard, and organized what I was hearing, in terms of the issues that had been raised in earlier conversations and in terms of issues I identified as I listened to the tapes after the conversations were over.

These questions, the questions that followed each visit, became the way in which I organized my "field notes." This not only allowed me to check back with some of the women who had participated in those conversations, it also gave me a framework within which to go forward.

Halfway through the project I put everything I had transcribed or written away. Then, I developed a set of questions that I thought focussed what was going on so far. These are the interim questions.

At the end of all the visits and transcriptions, I repeated this process. These are the questions that supplement the interim questions. In significant ways, the tension between the first set and the second set provide the framework for strategizing about the future.

At the same time as I was developing the questions, I was organizing excerpts from the taped interviews into general themes-somewhat along the same lines as the questions-but cutting across time and space. These themes are included here. Finally, in the next section are the words of the women who generated the themes. The selection of excerpts opens up the time and space of the research, but is limited by the time and space of this report. It is important that we remember to respect the words that are not included and also those that weren't said.

The first questions concern issues around the feminist research process

- What right do we have as women, as researchers, to insert ourselves into other women's lives and raise issues that cannot be resolved during our time together?
- What responsibilities do we have, as feminists, around the consciousness of other women and the effects of consciousness on their lives?
- What responsibilities do we have, as feminists, in providing women with community before we intentionally raise issues of consciousness?
- How do these responsibilities change when those of us who are inserting ourselves have positions of relative privilege? . How do these responsibilities change when we assume the label of "feminist" for ourselves or for others?
- Is there a position of feminist integrity around the issue of "consciousness at any price"?
- Is there a position of feminist integrity around refusing to raise consciousness when the opportunity arises-even though there may be a price for either or both women?

• Who should decide these issues-and for whom?

Throughout we can continue to hear these questions:

What do we do when we begin to talk among ourselves as women?

When we begin to listen to women's stories, what do we hear about ourselves?

Why do we need to pay attention to women's stories once we begin to hear them?

When we hear women's stories about their lives, how do we begin to "do" literacy?

And a particular concern that came out of meetings with the advisory committee: How can we acknowledge that we, as women, live different lives because of our race, our class, our culture, our sexuality, our physical, mental, emotional and spiritual abilities, our formal education levels, our immigration status, our first language, our rural, urban and suburban locations, our opportunities for employment, our relation to children, our religions. . .

3.1 The words women spoke during the visits have been organized into 21 interconnected themes

Some women want to understand the similarities between us all. Some want to make sure we recognize the differences. Others would simply like to be treated as a person.

Women believe that there are some things they know about how women learn, and how they work alone and in groups. They also know what they have been told about women.

Women have a lot of ideas about how they are able to learn what they want to learn by building on their strengths-particularly building on their strengths in community.

Questions following reflection after the first visit, the visit to the west coast

- What is consciousnesspersonal, political, critical, women's, feminist?
- What about the men?
 Who is responsible for the men's consciousness?
- What does it mean to do research? What are the costs and benefits?
- What is "natural" for women? Are womenonly situations natural?

Women talk about the different reasons why they and others cannot come to literacy and upgrading programs. Usually women face more than one barrier.

Many women feel the way in which we have set up our social systems works against us. They stop us from moving forward and keep us entrenched in poverty.

Like most women who have to leave their homes to do what they want or need to do, women involved in literacy have difficulty with finding good, affordable childcare.

When women start to talk about some of the things that make it hard to get to programs, very often the first comments focus on responsibilities in the home, with their families.

Often, women realize that, for many women, the overwhelming responsibilities at home indicate that the real problem may be a lack of support from other family members.

Women are clear that this lack of support is not only passive resistance. Many, many women face violence from men if they dare to go back to school.

Despite the many barriers to their participation, women have no difficulty talking about why they want to take part in literacy and upgrading programs.

Some women indicate that they are very uncomfortable with the idea of women-only programs. It doesn't seem "natural" for women to talk alone together or work on their own.

- What is the difference between teaching, counselling, therapy, social work, and community development?
- What is the difference between the "we" of women literacy students and the "we" of women literacy workers in terms of consciousness, disclosure, responsibility?

Questions following reflection after the second visit, the visit to the east coast

- What is "advocacy" and what is "service delivery"? Who thinks advocacy and service delivery are different issues?
- How is "women's"
 experience different than
 the experience of
 poor"people"?
- What risks of violence are involved in talking about "women"?
- How do we work with the economic, physical, sexual, spiritual, emotional violence in women's lives?
- What does this work have to do with "literacy"?
- Of what earthly good is research? Why don't "we" do a revolution instead?

How do we weigh all the words so that we can hear some women speaking and some telling their stories through silences?

"I'm just telling you little wee bits and pieces because there's so much has happened in my life and now I want to make something of myself and try to support myself."

"Somehow what the students say-the voices that we should be listening to the most-without being kind of taken over-have to be made to have weight. And that's very hard to do for people who are not in the habit, really, of listening to those voices. You can either patronize those voices-As you can see from the following three excerpts, we can prove that blah blah-which would bug me and please some people. On the other hand, the voices will not stand for themselves [for some people] to pay attention to them. They've heard the students tell these stories-so what?"

As others speak, however, they talk about the reasons they, or other women, want to take part in woman-positive, women-only programs, groups or activities.

Throughout the research process, women continued to discuss positive experiences they have had or the impact woman-positive activities have had on their program.

Some women shared longer stories about their experience with what actually happens when a women-only activity or program is put into place. There are no easy answers!

One story-partial as are all the stories heretrue as are all the stories here-is potentially very different from other versions that might be told-and it's still the truth

When women begin to participate in womanpositive activities within their own programs, they talk of having to face the tensions between theory and practice.

When women organize woman-positive

Questions following reflection after the third visit, the visit to central Canada

- What does it mean to be learner-centred? What does it mean to be woman-positive? What do we learn by looking at how programs operate?
- What happens when we finish the thought: "What about the men? They will lose out." What will the men lose if we do something woman-positive?
- What happens when you raise issues of power relations within a work setting? Is it different in women-only settings?
- How do we, as women literacy students and literacy workers, balance the intellectual/emotional /physical/spiritual elements of our experience?

activities, they are confronted with the question: What about the men? Some women suggest the men need to look for the answers.

Some women talked about what happens when they start to talk with other women about their lives. For many of us, this process of consciousness can be painful.

Women in one program talked around a table together about what they see happening in their community-with other women and with themselves-as change begins to happen.

Women literacy workers often talk about the tensions they feel in the fine lines between their roles as teacher, counsellor, facilitator. How can they work responsibly?

For many women, the issue of responsibility of the literacy worker-to herself and to the women she works with-centres on the process of disclosure, of what we tell each other.

It would seem that, in the end, one of the consequences for literacy programs of honouring women's stories is that definitions of literacy are radically challenged.

Questions following reflection after the last visit to the north

- How is women-as-culture different from women-asgender?
- What happens when we ask the question "What about the men?" as feminist adult educators?
- How do we honour those things that are unspoken (unwritten/unread) but known? What place do "silence" and "secrets" have in literacy programs?
- What role can "faith," "hope" and "charity" play in our analysis and vision?

How do we recognize the point when we begin to think too much?

Questions at the time of writing the interim report (in plain text) and at the time of writing the final report (in bold text)

- What is "research"?
- What does research do that may be useful in terms of improving women's experience in upgrading programs?
- What does research do that may be useful in terms of improving the upgrading programs' response to women's experience?
- Who can/should/may be doing this research? What do they need in order to do it effectivey?

- Who are the "women participants" in literacy programs?
- How do we recognize the experience of women who participate as literacy workers and literacy students to affirm our commonality and recognize our differences?
- What part does "privilege" and "oppression" play in the way in which women participate together in a program, when they participate with men?
- Why would we-women literacy students and women literacy workers-want to focus on women and our experience in programs?
- Why would we-women literacy students and women literacy workers-focus on the way in which upgrading programs respond to what they hear about women's experience?
- What does it mean for a program to be "responsible" for/toward the experience of women participants?
- How can programs respond to the multiple layers of strength that women display within and without the programs?
- How can programs respond to the multiple layers of violence that women face within and without the programs?
- How can programs respond to women's experience in the context of their particular communities? This particular society?
- Do programs work with "literacy" and "learner-centred" in ways that mean they are "woman-positive?"
- What happens when programs become aware of women's experience, decide to change, become more responsive?
- What happens when programs become aware of women's experience, decide not to change, become less responsive?
- What about the men?
- Who are the men?
- Who will respond to the experience of the men?
- What are the men responsible for?
- What are programs responsible for in regard to the men? Is this different from what women are responsible for in regard to the men?
- What does adult education theory say about facilitating change in any individual or group?

- How does that happen in practice?
- How can "we," as women literacy students and women literacy workers, work together in a way that demonstrates responsibility?
- Does this mean "we" are feminist?
- Do "we" have feminist consciousness?
- How can "we," as women literacy students and women literacy workers, work with programs in a way that demonstrates responsibility?
- Does this mean "we" are feminist?
- Do "we" have feminist consciousness?

Some women want to understand the similarities between us all. Some want to make sure we recognize the differences. Others would simply like to be treated as a person.

• I don't like the emphasis being put on me being a woman. I don't like that. I want to be seen as a person with skills, knowledge that can be used to help somebody else. Not necessarily because I am a woman. Sometimes that helps. But if I have a greatest I wish in my life that can be given to me, I would say: Let people see me as a person. Just a person. Not a Native, not a woman, not from this family, not from this community but as a person.

• It just made me realize how much we're all the same, even though certainly my back- ground, my culture-I have a different culture and a different background than the other women in the program-how much we were the same. How they voiced my concerns and my perceptions.

It was scary sometimes. But very energizing-empowering-for me to know that I wasn't alone. It wasn't anything that I had done that made things in my life happen to me. Because they had experienced the same things and we were as different as night and day in our situations. Knowing that I wasn't alone. That they expressed the same things as I thought and felt. The connecting between us changed me. Helped me grow.

• I work with one student particularly and she, she's a very timid person anyway. So looking at her from her point of view, maybe she has all of the extra disadvantages that come with being a woman. But there are also some very timid men here...

I think they're just individuals. I just never seem to separate in my mind men and women. I know it's fashionable to do that, but I don't do that...

Women are not always the same "woman." Some are coming into our programs
from a long history of disadvantage; some are housewives from middle class or
working class homes who have relatively few constraints. Some women are
young, straight out of high school and getting ready for trades training or further
education and some are women who have one career already. These are not all the
same woman.

• It just doesn't work well to use a southern feminist analysis in the north. The context, the history, is different enough that men's and women's relations cannot be interpreted the same-particularly in relation to the social structure.

- A literacy worker recognizes her similarity with students- "I needed to come here just as much as they did. And for the same reasons. The only difference was I was here for work. I was here because I was being paid. That's the only thing I had different from them. All the other things were very similar. I needed to be with other women. I needed to talk about things. I needed the time out-even though it was so difficult to get out-I needed that experience."
- While, in another community, a literacy student expresses her experience of difference- "Because she didn't get the money she needed or wanted, she just got up and left. Said to hell with it. The thing is, we can't. And I think that's where it hurts. And that's when it really hit me, then, that it's a job to them. That's it, that's the bottom line. It's a job to them. That's as far as it goes. And I find in that respect, what do we do?"

Women believe that there are some things they know about how women learn, and how they work alone and in groups. They also know what they have been told about women.

• I remember growing up, hearing this thing of "Get a bunch of women together and they're a bunch of cats." So, you go through life believing this for a long, long time-even though you personally have experiences with groups of women where that isn't true. And it takes you like 10 million experiences to realize that that's just a bunch of baloney. That was somebody else's bias.

Because [women] have been nurturers and caregivers they are also very sensitive
within a classroom environment. They're very co-operative, sensitive to other
people's feelings, co-operative in terms of helping other people toward self esteem
and feeling good about themselves...I also find that women like to work together,
they like to have fun together, they befriend each other. It becomes an
emotionally-involving, emotionally-charged as well as intellectually-charged
environment.

• I think [women] are less passive. I think maybe they know more about how they learn. They comment more on what they've noticed about how they've learned. Whereas I get more often from the male students things like, "Well, you decide what we'll do. You're the teacher." The women students more often don't say that to me when I say "What do you want to do." Something open like that. They'll say "You know what really works for me..." or "I had this book and it was really good" or "My tutor did this and I really liked it" or "Once we did this, let's do that again." They're much less passive. They're much more, they know more about what works for them.

- [The men] just do academic stuff...When they're on the computers upstairs, we're down here doing our classroom stuff which is based on discussion and projects. When they're down here, they're studying things outside of themselves. Like, we study things inside of ourselves and inside other women and they study geography. They did science experiments, mechanics. No discussion of self at all. It's like women are expected to be concerned about themselves. Men manipulate things.
- When you get a group of women, it doesn't take very long before the socialization starts to happen. Whereas with a group of men, if you don't make it happen, it's not going to happen.

• I know that from what I can see the women students that we have here are very happy to be here. They are happy with the way that [the women instructors] run things because they know that they are getting a fair shake. And they feel as though they can do some- thing and progress.

And the men students who understand that, are good students. The male students who don't understand that, who have more of a typical male model, have a bit more of a time adjusting. Because they see wo men as different than what [the women] are trying to show us.

• Women have such a capacity to be intimate. There's something very positive about being the caretakers and the nurturers of the world because it also provides us with the nurturing and caring nature. So we also have a lot of unseen and unsung benefits.

• My own experience ... is that working across an ability range is easier. I can imagine myself taking 0-3 and 4-6 without any difficulty if it is all women...My experience is that it's easier with women because of a natural tendency to be patient and to work with each other-their style, mostly. And, mostly, to be less directly demanding of a certain definable academic result. They have a bigger view often of what they're doing here.

Women have a lot of ideas about how they are able to learn what they want to learn by building on their strengths-particularly building on their strengths in community.

• The radio program is a very good idea for women, because they are the ones who are usually at home, listening to the radio. And that way they can learn to read and write, or they can help me. A lot of times they do especially the elder women. They'll call me and say "This is how you say this," or "No, it's done this way." So they give us support.

For some reason, Inuit women don't just come out and talk. Like I work here in the college. I hardly get any calls here during the day. But at the radio where everybody's listening and they can hear me, then they'll call me and give me advice.

• [Women] like to come and hang out, shoot the shit...They also like group. Group learning I'm finding women are enjoying much more than a tutor because they're willing to share ideas.

- When we sit and do it by ourselves [it's not good enough] ... it's only one hour and we have to rush. Especially me. Somebody is standing behind me and I can't understand anything! I know they are waiting for his help. Everything just goes blank. And I just told him I go home and ask my husband to help me. It forces me to learn from my husband, not my teacher.
- From having observed male/female groups, I tend to feel females really enjoy learning because of the social interaction that they, manage with other women... I've experienced it several different times...When it first happened, I thought "Oh, this is a fluke. This is just a good group of women." But, there's many good groups of women.

• She's got a way with people that she brings out-she gets them to say what they want to learn. She knows how to help them out in that area. I think that was the success-that the instructor, even though she knew what she was supposed to teach, but she didn't teach them what she knows. She taught them what they want to know...That's why it was so successful. Because it wasn't up to the instructor to teach the stuff, it was up to the people taking the course to tell the instructor what they want to know. And she did it. And I admire her for it!

- I think in order for a centre like this to work then it's got to be all encompassing because people don't live in a vacuum...
- There was all the stuff around child sexual abuse coming out ... it just consumed everyone and as a result we started talking about it. ... So we said, "Well, why don't we build it into part of a discussion group." ... It was just an incredible shift in terms of thinking about the issue and also a movement to become involved in different things, such as the coalition against pornography...Also in the process of that four women identified themselves as having been victims of sexual abuse and the potential for that to move was just phenomenal.

• We do have a lot of fun. I think that's really important. We build fun into the program. We build going out for lunch, having potlucks, mental health days...They enjoy coming here. If you don't enjoy what you're doing, then you're not going to get the cooperation.

- What would you change?
- Have classes instead of going at your own pace by yourself.
- a program where you have more choices that don't depend on math
- more career type counselling regarding courses.
- more classes at night.
- more choice of courses.
- games like volleyball organized
- more friends my own age.
- to be able to live with my birth mother.
- money for transportation each day
- I wish I hadn't slacked off when I was in school before. That I had gone back and finished.

Women talk about the different reasons why they and others can not come to literacy and upgrading programs. Usually women face more than one barrier.

• Sometimes we've seen that the school has been the straw that broke the camel's back. And I don't think it's intentional. But they just cannot cope with the pressures of the home environment as well as having homework and family problems.

I've seen that a couple of times where it's pushed a couple of them over the deep end...And how many don't we know about?

• How do you help-make it better-when so much is difficult-no money, no support, no daycare, the work is too hard, didn't get cheque on time, house broken into, car broke down...

• Things that stop women from coming to school: can't afford it, got a job, shifts, time-table doesn't fit, needs to come at night, no transportation/no buses, two small kids, no childcare or transportation, one had a baby-sitter quit, too tired after work and kids.

• It was an interesting case of a single mum. She was working full time, and going to [40 miles from her home] twice a week to take two courses and then coming to this organization to get tutoring. She was totally stressed out.

We only met a couple of times but we felt sorry for her because she could not cope with what she was doing. She did drop one subject and I think perhaps she dropped both of them shortly after ...

She was stuck in a waitress job and she didn't want to be there. She felt that she could upgrade herself because she really wanted to do it but for all those reasons, she couldn't get through it all.

- Well just generally, I think we need more day care centres ... and probably more help financially.
- I have a neighbour and she's having the problems of babysitting and transportation. I told her I can give her a ride. So she says she's too scared to go back to school. Now she's moving away, I can't help her at all.

• In the program that I'm working in most of the students work. Definitely one job, maybe two Domestic workers don't have a lot of control over their free time, which is an issue. And women who work in factories where they feel they can't turn down overtime. So there's like work situations that make it difficult.

And whatever the actual work situation, there's always demands of being at home. For example there was a woman coming to X who had two kids and a husband who was injured at work and he wasn't very supportive. He didn't disallow her from going, but he didn't make it any easier for her. She still had to do all the cooking and everything when she came home. Most of the time she brought the kids with her when she came. And having kids around is a bit difficult.

• When those things happen, when the economic situation gets so bad, the economy gets so bad, if there is a partner there, a male partner, then often times other things show their faces. Like, you often in economic crises see more violence... So we can suspect there has been an increase in violence given the other kinds of information that we have. Plus, if you're worried about food, you aren't coming to any programs.

• I don't want to sit in a classroom six or seven hours a day. I have to hit food banks. I have to sit and read and wait for my social worker.

• My mum, she wanted to come to school. She took the assessment test and she did really well. But she works from 4 to 12 so it's hard for her to get any sleep and go to school at the same time.

Many women feel the way in which we have set up our social systems work against us. They stop us from moving forward and keep us entrenched in poverty.

• Poverty seems to be the most hindering. It just kind of eats people up and drags them down.

• A lot of the women have trouble with Children's Aid, having their children taken away ... That's all very complicated, it has a lot of issues in it...

There's one woman recently who's gone through that and she's really gone out of the program. Actually, when you think about it, it has really eliminated literacy for her because she's just personally trying to deal with what's happened to her and her tutor's there to tell her "I'll get back to you whenever you want," but she doesn't expect anything to happen because everything is just total chaos...

But it's like a lot of things. I think it's so emotionally draining, it doesn't leave much room for learning.

• Some won't come in for three or four days and you know they're worried about getting food on the table, or this, that, and the other thing. They don't want to come to a program, sit down and read and write.

• [Social services] say their mandate is not education, that's the standard line. They're not in the business of providing for people to go to educational facilities. That's a crying shame. They're keeping people on their payroll for want of a few extra dollars every week to educate them, upgrade them.

The people that come into our classes, and I'm sure all the other programs around, do not want to be on social services. They want to be able to get out and do something for themselves. I think it's very hard to not feed your kids while you're going to school. Obviously the kids are the priority.

• In social services and housing, they will only fund one partner at a time. We've actually had instances here a young fellow and a woman have met and either started living together or gotten married and one of them had to quit school... In the three cases that I know of, it's been the woman that's quit and stayed home because of the cost.

We've never seen it like that before. We decided it was time for some more
community visits. We better go out and find out why people aren't coming One of
the women came back one time and she just sat and cried. She said "I've never
seen it. People are hungry. You get to the door and you could tell. It's written all
over their faces. It was just awful." That has not gone away. That has not changed.

• The big problem is social assistance recipients who come in and have child care and transportation and drugs paid for. They get out to minimum wage in an entry level job where none of that's available. There's no incentive. Other than a guaranteed annual income, I don't know what the answer is.

• [The economic] situation hasn't changed and as a result the clientele who are coming to our program now has changed because it affects women the hardest. So we're getting more young men now who have a reason to believe that if they are to learn to read and write and upgrade their skills, they would have better access to some kind of employment.

Like most women who have to leave their homes to do what they want or need to do, women involved in literacy have difficulty finding good, affordable childcare.

• A lot of men in town don't babysit... And even those who do babysit, if the kid starts to cry, think nothing of bringing the kid over to the woman in the middle of a course, an interview, a meeting, anything. And the trouble with a community this size is you can't hide. So, if they want to track you down, they track you down.

• It was very difficult for me [to teach the program]. My husband traveled almost 75 per cent of the time last year. And to find a babysitter that would show up on time, that could handle putting the three kids to bed. I found it very hard to get out the door. I was impacted probably more than everybody...Even though I have extended family here it was very hard.

- They have to rely on their friends or family to keep their children every day while they are in class. And it's all right for a while. OK, Grandma will do it. But she's getting old. She's not going to do it every day.
- When we started the tutor program, one of the reasons why we didn't get very much response is that they can't go out and just- or don't have time to just-sit and be taught. Because they don't have babysitters or they're too busy doing things. Or they're not interested... Oh, the babysitters-I have babysitter problems all year. When they change so many times it's hard on the children and the mother.

• We're in a situation where we do have funding for childcare, but that's not necessarily the issue. We don't always have a person to always do the childcare and we're always caught in the thing-what is the best way to do this?

• A lot of the women wait until they know that they've got their kids looked after, before they even make any contact with the organization. So, if they finally find out in August that things are going OK-I can go back to school-they come in and they're totally, frustrated because we say "Oh, you have to take an assessment test, you can't take one until after classes start, and most of the classes are full." ... The unfortunate thing is that you have to plan ahead even if it is for two courses or even one.

- We don't yet have daycare. God knows if we're going to get it. Three of my students won't be back in the fall-they're having babies. When they come back it will depend on daycare, for infants. And there's a very, very strong tendency to stay home with an infant which I can understand. More so than with an older child. And yet many of the young women get started with us, they're with us one term or two terms and then they're off for a year or two. It feels like you lose.
- The husband is not working and he will not look after the kids. It's not his job.
- And I think while daycare is an issue across the board, not just for people who don't have money, obviously it's more of a problem for them because they can't pay anybody. There is no money for special services ... from any of the funding services. Yet they want women to get off welfare.

When women start to talk about some of the things that make it hard to get to programs, very often the first comments focus on responsibilities in the home, with their families.

• [Housework] all has to wait until I get home. It's one rush-around...It's just waiting for me.

• I think ladies have more responsibility than guys do. There's times when I drifted off because I know I left something undone. And there were days I couldn't concentrate because I knew there was something I didn't do at home or someplace else.

To try to go to school and have the responsibility of our home-you can't really concentrate because we have more responsibility than a guy does. He can come and go and he doesn't have to look after the kids and cooking and cleaning and things that we have to do. I think that what we're kind of lacking is we don't give enough time for our self and we're not really thinking of us instead of a lot of other things.

- I don't do my housework the same, I do it at night and go to bed late. I don't see my mother-in-law like I used to. I would do her housework on the weekends. Now I can't do it.
- Some men have to take daycare and childcare into consideration, but certainly nowhere near the percentage of the women. And they're faced with the same financial difficulties in a lot of cases. But I think the men just don't have as many responsibilities at home as the women do.

• I want to come to school and I have to look after two families, my parents, my sister, sometimes my in-laws too. I decide I am coming to school, but it's very hard. I wish somebody was there to help me, but nobody is there to help me. My husband, he just goes to work. He helps me, but ...

• I had to tell my Dad I had to come back to school... to quit being his partner in the car business and also had to give up doing most of the cleaning in the house, gardening and grass cutting and cleaning up. Also keeping the house tidy for mum. She works during the day. And also making suppers.

• If they do happen to believe that they do want to go to this course and do want to leave the family for two evenings or a weekend or whatever, people don't agree with them. So the values are imposed on them within their culture, just like all of us, I guess. It's really hard to be strong enough to end up with what you want.

And often, the kind of women that we get involved with in tutoring anyway ... haven't been successful in school and so they don't have enough confidence to sort of demand it. So I'm sure that some of the people who don't turn up for tutoring or for appointments-I know that they probably have a myriad of reasons...The big one is the family, the husbands.

• Some of the men have called the school and said "What are you teaching my wife?" These are all married women who have raised their children and want to get back in the workforce...

The women would go home and, if they didn't feel like cooking supper, they wouldn't say "Get it yourself." But they would say, "I don't really feel like cooking it right now... " So it was assertive, it wasn't aggressive.

They were used to being passive because they were in the home, took care of the children, took care of the husband, took care of the house and that was their role. They had seen no role for the husband doing any of that work. The women's day was from seven in the morning until eleven at night...

Often women realize that for many women the overwhelming responsibilities at home indicate that the real problem may be a lack of support from other family members.

- It's hard for me to go back to school. My boyfriend disagrees with me coming back. He just wants me to give up all the time. And I want to go! That kind of tension...
- We had another one. Her husband didn't want her to be here. "What are you doing down there. You should be home." That little thing she's doing for herself and she felt great about being here. Just being out of the house if for no other reason...

She left the program and I would say it was troubles home. I mean what's the point? You stay at home. There's so much fighting about it, she decided it wasn't worth the effort...You start to feel like you're pulling her one way and her family's pulling her another way.

• I think the people who need our help the most are the ones that aren't taken seriously. Not necessarily not supported, but they're not taken seriously. Because your family can sort of support you, but they don't show it because they think it's not important.

• I keep figuring, well, I'm going to change. I'm not going to let them take over. I was going to complete my upgrading and I kept trying to tell myself that. I guess I shouldn't have kept telling myself that because they sort of still got to me. Jealousy and things like that kept getting in my way and every time I went home, I had to fight them. And it got to the point that I didn't want to go home, cause I knew once I got home I'd have to argue. So I just said OK-went out-got drunk for a week. And then it was too late. I didn't come back after that.

- So it's usually somebody dumping on them [that stops women from coming]. It's usually men.
- One woman talked about the difference between her husband who beat her when she couldn't do things he asked, and left her when he discovered she couldn't read, and her boyfriend who respects her for going back and trying to learn, and also helps her with immediate needs. He understands she can't read, but he doesn't think she is stupid.

• The school's OK.It's my home life that's got to change. I've got to get rid of my child and my husband first! This school is OK-interesting.

- H's husband was having a struggle with H. Watching her independence.
- That's right. He wouldn't peel a potato.
- He was having a hard time.
- I was peeling vegetables before I went to work in the morning. Putting on supper when I went home. I remember one day I got mad, told him he had to do the goddam wash alone. [Her daughter] said, "Mama, I wish you would have told me." Her socks were all over the place. Her clothes were stiff with detergent. [lots of laughter].
- He was raised up in a family where they weren't allowed to touch the right person to do the right thing...
- And they're getting there. Like last Sunday I felt like I was in the way...

Women are clear that this lack of support is not only passive resistance. Many, many women face violence from men if they date to go to school.

• I am sitting here thinking of some of the people that have stopped coming. Very often it's husbands... Beat them up. Tell them that they can't go. Don't want them to be any more than what they are... The wife isn't waiting on them hand and foot because she isn't there for two to four hours in the day.

• I think violence in the home causes so many things. I think it causes a lack of selfworth, a lack of self-esteem, a lack of confidence. If you're being told you're stupid or worthless for so many years than you start to believe it. I really believe that if somebody says something often enough they start to believe it. I think every time they're abused, it's "How can I go back to school. I'm stupid. How can I make that effort to get out there, that first step to get out there."

• I'd like to see a women's group meeting-but I don't know how to get it goingabout violence and sexual abuse against women. A support group... • Low education does help keep you where you are. That's why men become so threatened when you start to finish your program and you might look at some kind of training. You may not be so dependent.

• Often when women start back to school that's when their husbands start to beat them, or begin again, or it gets worse, or whatever. And-from talking to women who work in transition houses-when women come to a transition house then they start getting their lives together. One of the things that they do is go back to school. And often they go back to school and they go back to their husband. [The two things] get really closely linked... And so it's an issue that needs to get dealt with...That's one of the things where having all-women classes would be better.

Personally, I would like someone who deals with women's problems like violence
in the home. I mean, women come in here with no self-esteem. Now, we can pretty
much work with that... But we don't know how to deal with violence in the home. I
mean, they're not going to leave the home anyway. But to be able to tell them how
they might deal with it if they are home...

How to deal even with large families who are probably always bugging her because one or the other's always needing attention. The baby's always crying or she's having a hard time with the husband. Probably not violence on the part of beating, but nagging, or not there to help, or whatever. To be able to talk to and tell them, "This is maybe what you could do," or whatever.

• This hasn't been brought up in the last three days and it's been on my mind because I have a lot of friends who have this problem. That there should be an assault counsellor because a lot of women have problems with that-sexual assault and other assault. There should be a counsellor like that. If you miss a day at school because of problems like that, problems at home like that, you can catch up because in some cases you can't.

• This society has violated women on every level. Women are violated sexually, physically and economically and the violence that is associated with those three major areas for women, identify very special needs for women and there needs to be a society that will recognize that and allow things to fall in place. Never mind putting things in place. Let us put things in place, but don't block us from doing it.

• When a woman becomes involved in a literacy program, when she's becoming more independent, the man is losing his grip and he's becoming more violent and more aggressive and attempting more control...

Despite the many barriers to their participation, women have no difficulty talking about why they want to take part in literacy and upgrading programs

• She really wants to do training so she can get out of factory work. But it's not possible for her to do training because the majority of the apprenticeship programs pay \$5 an hour. She can't afford to be paid \$5 an hour to support two kids and a partner. And at one point she was also talking about doing secretarial training and so that led to a discussion in our group that actually you would be better paid if you stayed in the factory work.

• Some of the elders say they are all dying off and they would like to pass things to us, but because we are doing so many things today, we don't take them as well as the young people used to and the only way that they're going to preserve their culture and language is if we write them down and keep them for their children and their children's children. That's what an elder told me and I think that's very true... A lot of the young people, they read in English.

• We have wives that come in here. They come in here to get away from their husbands. One woman came in here and her husband decided that he was going to come in here the same afternoon. And she called us and changed hers to another evening.

• I hated being helpless. Helplessness is my number one enemy. There is nothing worse than feeling helpless in a situation when you can't help it. And I hated that so much. I was determined to get myself out of there and I had a good family to help me.

• When a husband and wife team come, it's very important for us to keep control of that. Because a lot of women see this as a sanctuary. And a lot of the women come here and they sit down and they can have a chit and chat and, even if they get the crap beaten out of them when they go home, this is theirs. So we don't have a lot of men. I mean, we have to allow them in, but...

• It's a reason to come out of the house ... East Indian ladies, we aren't allowed, we don't want, to go out to drink or go to dances or anything like that. The only thing for us is coming to school. The only way we can come out. That's our out-going-going wherever you go [on class trips].

• One girl took the first job she'd ever had in her life. It was a cashier at the grocery store. But I think that took a certain amount of hauling yourself up out of a rut and saying I'm going to do this, earn a wage. Especially when her husband didn't work. It was putting herself in a vulnerable position. A threatening position. So it must have taken something inside of herself to do that. And she obviously took a lot of joy out of doing that, out of being in that job.

• Women stay in school longer, have higher educational levels, higher skill levels, more flexible in their job aspirations, less stereotyped, less narrow in their perceptions of self-and generally have fundamental organizational skills because they do care for the family and they have to balance their children and everything else. So if you go around town and you look in the administration of the community, you'll find that it's dominated by women. Highly skilled women.

Some women indicate that they are very uncomfortable with idea of women-only programs. It doesn't seem "natural" for women to talk together or work on their own.

• We thought the women should know what their rights were in terms of custody, in terms of any type of family law...We do things like that. We focus on women but we invite the men to be a part of it as well...And that can certainly make for a lively discussion. Because some men are so set in their ways that we thought that this needs to be talked about and we need to talk about why We thought it was quite therapeutic in one way for them to stay-their minds were obviously changing as they heard all the things that were going on and it was quite good. But I don't

know that we actually start by going into the program saying this needs to be addressed for women. I think we do it, but I think it's not conscious.

• I certainly think that at certain levels there should be co-education because that is how people work together and how do you get around the whole sexual thing. It's another level of education as well. I certainly don't think that women should always be grouped unto themselves and men should always be grouped unto themselves. But I do think that if people psychologically deal with some of the things they have to deal with before they take on the academics and the impartiality of sex... I think that a lot of our sexual problem is that psychologically that hasn't been worked out first amidst like-mindedness.

• I think in many ways we don't separate out a women's course from the men, because we think whatever happens with women, it will affect men. I think we need to let the men realize that women have a place, that they have a focus, that there are things that are important to them. And I think just to say to the women, "This is for you and you only," and to say to the men, "You don't need to know about that," well....

We've gone through things in science like the reproductive cycle. We thought that men should know as much about the women's reproductive cycle as women should. Now, if some are interested in something that no- body else is, that is particular to women, then a group of women are quite welcome to work on it. We don't force anything onto people. But if we feel it is pertinent to how a man will see himself in society or how a man will see himself in terms of the law, then we think that they should know about it.

• Part of my problem is I'm very tender about [the issue of women-only classes]. It's not a battle I'm going to take on because I don't have the personal strength to take what will be said and I don't have the personal strength to make the explanation over and over and over and over and over and over and over. That's one that I really have trouble being "light" about. And that's absolutely mandatory... Making jokes at the same time that you make the point... I'd be very surprised to hear that this is anything that this organization would even be allowed to consider. It's a decision that would be made so many levels above us.

• I should say on the record that I think we do not exclude the men. We get jokes about that and I think that some of the males out there in the community aren't sure what the situation is here... Their perception of looking at it on paper would have been that it would have been a man-hating organization. But those vibes just aren't there. It's really open. We're not insular at all. We don't bite.

• There aren't too many men that find it easy to work in this kind of [woman-positive] environment.

As others speak, they talk about the reasons they, or other women want to take part in woman-positive, women-only programs, groups or activities.

• Well, there's something I would like to say, but I think that it's way off. [Go for it.] Men have always had the power. And I guess, I guess, it's, well, for me, it's harder [to be in a group with men] because I'm more open. I think girls are more open than boys and get hurt more. And like, your friends and all, they get closed up, to a point, and then everybody just sticks to themselves and you can't really get in touch. Like you can't be friends with anybody because they're shut off to a point. [Kind of like protection.] Hmmhmm.

• Women in a group tend to be more supportive of each other than men in a group. Men tend to be more distant even towards men. And you don't get that in a women's group and so maybe that's why a women's group seems to go further.

• I think when they're entering, it is good for women to get together...They get an opportunity to speak from their heart with like-minded others and sometimes speaking from the heart means resentment against men and ... the cares of the childrearing. The commonality of a shared experience really does help women very much into feeling like "This is a normal process and this is normality." Whereas I think when you get into a male/female group, it's not the same commonality so you find subjects aren't quite as intimate.

• It's not always easy for women to be in classroom with men here. There are still roles and stereotypes of roles. There seemed to be ... women seemed to come together and stay together during coffee breaks. They didn't seem...The men went outside and had cigarettes. Sometimes the women did. But most of the time they were in separate groups. So it seemed to indicate to us that they would like a separate group.

• There was a woman who at first didn't say a word to anyone in the group. And then it got to well, how do you feel your breasts for lumps. If you go to a doctor they give you a pamphlet, how to, but that doesn't tell you how to do it. You want a little tape recorder to tell you how to do it. Before you know where it is, she's absolute standing up, talking and going, well I have that, and the doctor told me this. Because she had already had it. Without knowing, without even thinking, she's standing demonstrating, teaching me, how to feel my lumps!

• The conversations we used to have in the women's group would never ever come up around men. No way. It's not the sort of thing you talk about.

• What happened was that the people would get together to discuss something and obviously [staff] would look into that. But when we met again the following week, perhaps you might be sitting having a cigarette and a coffee, and people would start to talk and would bring the conversation into the room about boyfriends, relationships, who we trust and who we don't. It was a little bit of everything.

I think that was the fun part. It wasn't just about sex or children, it was what we wanted, how we felt, angry, frustrated, whatever... And I think it sort of, whatever you started talking about outside, you sort of bring it in. So whatever you talked about the week before, it sort of really never got followed up. What I felt in my mind, whatever you discussed in that day, you either have to close it or find the information out there or- because by the time you come back next week it's a different topic.

• I would be scared to talk [if men in the same group]. I don't know why. That's all. It's hard for me...I'm shy from ladies too, not only from men.

Throughout the research process, women continued to talk about the positive experiences they have had or the impact womanpositive activities had on their program.

[How would this meeting be different if we had men in it?]

- I think it would be extremely different! I think that a lot of us would shut up! I don't think we would be as open as we are in talking about...the things we've been talking about... because they're men.
- Maybe because you start to feel like they might not understand. It's like sometimes
 you're talking about certain things you just don't want to talk to men about.
 Because sometimes women just like to talk among themselves. I'm sure men are
 the same way. Because they feel sort of self conscious too in opening up there
 problems. They talk to other guys all the time. Or to their friends.
- Well usually when you're in a group discussion women are more apt to be more open I think it's just because the way you feel, you feel a bit more uptight maybe...You talk about how they're going to react... I feel a lot better in all-women groups just because you think well, she understands how I feel about it, just because she is a woman. Because she's got the same problems maybe. Just even though she's a different kind of person. You think, she knows how you feel. It's just easier talking. You feel more comfortable because they're the same as you.
- I like it better in a mixed group, really...Sometimes these men, it's good for them to know our problems. It's nice to be able to understand men, to tell them how you feel. Sometimes I think there's not enough communication between people. They do have all the same needs and wants. They do have all the same problems really.

• I think to some extent there is a lot of discussion around [differences men and women] here among the staff. And I've wondered whether it came from the fact that a women's group was run here or maybe it always was. But I also heard [women students] remembering things that came from the women's group. Or understandings that happened. Like I think that the whole thing around trying to get a childcare fund really came or gelled from the women's group. I mean it may have been talked and thought about before but I think that there, that there were actions actually taken about it. And I really feel like that women's group affected how we planned [another group]. I feel that. I feel that people hark back to it.

• Once [immigrant women re-entry programs] get going they just have a wonderful time and they really just make all kinds of progress. Just incredible. And they're so happy and they're so together. And I think part of it is because it happens to be a group of women that relate really well together. Better than a group of men, I would say, better than a co-ed group.

• The women's program changed the program and me and everybody here on how we work with women. [Because?] Because we talked about it. And we were forced to look at things that we didn't have to look at, in order to make it accessible to women.

• We had a group [of Native students] who had come through from literacy to grade ten, and then through advanced level, all together as a group. What happened was there was this chemistry that took place within that group: They were very articulate, they were very clearly directed... And what they did is they made changes in the whole college because they said these are the problems that we are facing as a specific group... So I see that when we get a group that's going to be all-women that we're going to have that same kind of impact.

Some women shared longer stories about their experience with what actually happens when a women-only activity or program is put into place. There are no easy answers!

• Two things happened. Number one, [the women-only class] turned into a consciousness-raising group, a really tight little group of women, who gave each other support about all kinds of stuff. And they did a whole lot of literacy work around that. It worked beautifully in terms of them using reading and writing skills to tackle their problems, as well as doing some straight academic work...

So they took students at a certain range of ability and took the women out. So what they were left with were the men. And most of the men turned out to be more or less young boys. And nobody wanted to teach that group. They were a pretty depressing bunch and very difficult to teach...

So the next term it came up and we were going to do this again and the woman who had taught the all-women's group was too frightened. Basically she said "I don't think that what we were doing there could be called literacy work."... She was quite terrified at having the group take over...

Those women four years later still either knew each other, or asked about each other whene ver they saw any of us connected with that department ...

We never had it again... She was a very strong voice. She was the one that had had the direct experience and she could testify that it wasn't really a useful class in terms of their literacy instruction. And because we said, very clearly, that no one wanted to teach what was left-the men-which was the boys mostly...

They weren't as motivated, they didn't have the social skills... So the tone dropped ...The women carry on the social interaction so the men are drawn into it. And they take care to include them and they watch out for anybody who's not being taken care of ...

One man said that he could imagine taking it on, but you'd have to develop this whole program, this whole curriculum you'd have to take that on as separate from teaching them literacy. I mean, do you want to become a socializing teacher. I mean most of us are in it because we like having something as tangible as literacy to help people acquire. ...When you're a literacy instructor you get to do all that [personal and community development] by giving them this tool. It's a real treat compared to going in and saying "Can I be of any help?"...

[Researcher: What the men would have been doing for the men is going out there, and getting curriculum together and making the men better men in the same way that women for years have tried to make the women more effective women, more functioning women.] That's true... I have never yet, in 14 years now, taught a class in which I haven't spent a lot of time digging out more material and searching for more pieces that would allow those women to become stronger. That's because women are excluded in print just as they are excluded in the rest of the media. They are excluded in our culture. So I have this job to do. But men are in print.

[Researcher: But they're not in nurturing each other, they're not in taking care of each other.] So of course that's what men should be doing. [Researcher: Except that the men say, I don't want to do this, it's too much work, put the women back in and just let the women do it.] That's very interesting, yeah.

One story-partial as are all the stories here--real as are all the stories here--is potentially very different from other versions that might be told and it's still the truth

• There was always a certain amount of shock value [in women's stories], because the things were shocking and there was never any kind of buffer for dealing with it in a more compassionate way or for the staff person to actually integrate it or anything like that. So there are lines of information coming from within the staff, to women staff. But I think once the women's group was struck and meeting

• regularly every week, the stories started being told to each other and that was far more important because the women had very similar experiences.

• [We] tried to be in an environment with them where anything could be said, no matter how shocking, no matter how scary or how tearful it would be. Because those stories built one on top of each other and one of the women with [staff encouragement decided she wanted to write her story. And it in a way had aspects of each of those women's lives.

 And [two women staff] always did it together because we never knew what would come up. We needed to be there for each other. We needed to talk after. We needed to call in people to help, especially when it came to questions of abuse...
 We just needed to get it clear what our role was and that we weren't counsellors but that we could hear.

• The rest of the staff felt that we were draining the organization. So, we had a kind of feminist belief but it turned out to be not very flexible, not a very flexible belief. We believed that this group could stay within its limits and we couldn't because we never knew what was going to happen. We never knew what was going to be said. And the emotional impact on the other women and on us was something that we couldn't anticipate. So, we didn't get enough support from the rest of the collective. We kept asking and we kept bitching and eventually we did. But it took a while. [What kind of support were you looking for?] The time that it was taking. They were wondering why two of us needed to be in the group every week. Why couldn't it be just one person, spelling the other person off kind of thing.

• It sort of pushed me more in the direction I was going in. To be a witness for people. To be a person who could help them articulate things. To give them freedom to do that. And any practical way to help them take that information further... I wanted to be part of a network of women telling stories.

• Did we have a right to put a group of women together and then disband that group again? Which is what we did. We had funding to hold a group together for a year and we had no funding after that. And we didn't make a commitment to go after that. And that was the ethical question. [Why didn't you go after the funding.] I don't know. I think that as a whole, as an overall, we were lacking direction from

• an organizational point of view. The staff was not saying strongly enough that this mattered. We didn't know enough then.

• I think we do say that having done the women's group, and having discovered certain things, we now let those things change the organization and make it different. And that is true, I guess. But, it could not be true at the same time. And who's there to see if it's true or not?

• Here we are in the middle [of the program]. We create this safe little forum for a certain group of women. And then we don't make that, we don't sort of take down the walls and make it a bigger place. It's like we kept it all secret. Or it became such a lot of busy work ... that there just wasn't a lot of space for participation... If we did it again, it would be better.

When women begin to participate in woman-positive activities within their programs they talk of having to face the tensions between theory and practice.

• We had one student that we asked to leave because of his attitude towards women. It was quite offensive. And he seemed to be somewhat of a leader and a mouthy person in the group. And we thought this is not good. We don't want women who come into the program to feel this is the class attitude. We recommended another program to him ...

• Part of the reason why you don't get many literacy programs for women is that this is "community" and so it changes the face of things. Also, [in "community"] there is not a clear understanding or recognition of the needs of women.

• I think women staff, women working in literacy programs, front-line deliverers, would probably have as much to say... How do their issues get sorted? And where do they go? Students can come to you. Where does the staff go? There is no forum. We don't make it a priority You don't even want to recognize that it is not a priority at your workplace. And you know that it isn't. And where do you go to have it addressed?

• It just so happened that women gravitated [to the program]. It wasn't designed just as a women's program, although clearly, in the hearts of some of the people there, it might have been just as interesting, perhaps more interesting, if it had just stuck with women. But, then it wouldn't have become a community program.

- Those of us who would deal with the minute-to-minuteness of [women-only classes] are the most divided on it. And those of us who would deal with the minute-to-minuteness of it are also the most afraid of the backlash because bureaucrats and support staff are more allowed to kind of not have to take a position but to seem to be supporting and working out. But if you say you are going to teach an all-women class then that implies you have taken a position and if you say you don't want to teach it, that implies your position, and if you don't get to teach it, you've got to come to terms with what you do get to teach ...
- It's the old business of when you take the women away, what's left is the men.
- And in fact if you take away a core group of women, you're probably leaving a
 small number of women with a large number of men. And what does that meanwhat are the implications of leaving the women behind who may partly not be in
 that women-only class because they're too scared to be in that class? And so
 you've taken the most scared women and left them with the large number of men.

• Which is part of how the institution is patriarchal. It's the nature of the institution that's a problem. If all of the classes were as woman-friendly as they are manfriendly, it wouldn't matter who got left behind. But they aren't. That proves that they aren't. What would you care who was left behind if all of the classes were as equally woman-friendly?

• The staff all kind of had a discussion about [possible sexual assault incident]. And we realized that he was preventing her, and then subsequent women-I mean we were trying to be learner-centred in giving this guy literacy, but felt that he was a barrier to women in the program. And see, he was really smart. It was really hard to pin him down between his rights as an individual and his-because we're not detectives and we're not lawyers-his rights as an individual and his freedom. Because we say literacy is a right-his right to have literacy. But we always would go in favour of the women, saying that because there had been other barriers in people's lives, this was one more barrier. I mean you get in and then you get harassed.

When women organize woman-positive activities, they are confronted with the question: What about the men? Some women suggest the men need to look for the answers.

• What does it **mean** "What about the men?" What's the problem? Why don't the men just meet on their own when the women meet?

• I mean there are always going to be a few males that are going to be hard line on the place of a woman... It is going to take a long time for them to get over that... If they ever get over that... It's going to take time. So I guess the danger maybe is in pushing too hard. There might be some sort of a kickback or whiplash that happens, that might tend to have some sort of reversal. People might tend to back off or something. I don't know. I haven't seen it here.

• You could get rid of all the men-all of us.

• Why should they change? There's no reason to change as long as you control the balance of power. There are some men who are feminist, who will say," Yes, there is an imbalance here and an injustice and let's correct it." And, "Yes, I will give up some of my power in order that you may have some more power and balance things out." But for the most part, men aren't going to.

• There has been a men's forum at [literacy conference]. And that doesn't appeal to me at all. I went to a men's forum [in another organization] and I couldn't wait to get out of the meeting. In some ways I don't actually know what men's issues are. I'm not in touch with them. And men generally don't talk about them anyway unless they're kind of in bitchy terms, just shooting the shit or complaining. I've learned more from just kind of being on the outside of a women's group here. And I have no idea how a men's group could make that useful.

• What happens to those men who don't fit into the way things are going...They don't agree with the way we are treating women [positively]. What happens to them? Do they drop out? Do they cause trouble in the classroom...? What do we do for them?

• I think [looking after the men], that's an extension of the mothering role that I refuse to take. The men can look after themselves. When they're ready, they will. I don't feel like I need to go out and take care of them and tell them "You really should come and discuss your inside feelings." No. I'm not going to mother a male adult. Or at least, whenever possible I will not do it. So I feel really strongly that that's bullshit!

• The subtext to those conversations is women need a women-only support group because they need a safe space. Men don't support each other. So a men-only support group is a contradiction. Women support men. So a mixed group is a men's support group.

• Even if at a sort of local level of human one-to-one relationships, it may have some impact about the general oppression of class, the general oppression of racism, how men and women are linked...That kind of issue. If men were to raise within men staff, men students and men teachers, with some direction, I think that would be a very great outcome... It isn't a woman's issue. It's not a woman's issue.

• You know, for all the hardship and everything, I'm not worried about the women. They'll do well. They'll find a way as they always have. They have the [inner] resources. They have the organizations. That's not true for the men, certainly not true for a large proportion of men here. I really despair over the men in this community. I think the crisis is for the men. I know that is not very apropos to talk about...

Some women talked about what happens when they start to talk with other women about lives. For many of us, this process of consciousness can be painful.

• I guess, probably, where it sort of just filters down into probably a lot of small things, or not small things, but things that are subtle. Then you realize that you've thought about them...It's funny. You look at it and then you start to see all these little layers underneath. It's really strange.

• Thank god that we can't go on all day thinking in these terms. That we just get on with making lunch. Because I just feel paralyzed with what we're talking about. The intensity of fear, rage, all that stuff. I couldn't live with feeling this every minute of my day. I wouldn't function.

• I think that pretty well most of the women there would call themselves feminist at this point. But, when it all started, they weren't looking in that direction. They were just women who wanted to get together. But you can't get a group of women together who don't begin to realize that there's real common grounds here. The common grounds have to do with the fact that **we're** women, **they're** men.

• How do they get to the space where they feel safe enough to even think about it as an option? I mean how many women really think that they have the right to go off and meet on their own for their own good?

• In one situation, as women spoke together during the research, they came to see their similarities. "I'm just like her. That's all." This is a phrase said several times of women who spoke before and who are also significantly "different" in terms of such things as age, economic class, ethnicity.

• There are not too many places we can go from [a discussion of the problems]. And I think going back and forth into discussion- from local to global from global to local- action and reflection is key. But how do you do that without being really despondent. Because there are no mechanisms. State mechanisms are completely useless, human rights...

• It seems that the more conscious we become of ourselves as women, the more we get a heightened sense of how vulnerable we all are as women. And the more everyone be- comes conscious of us as women, the more vulnerable we become We feel increasingly vulnerable because we are concentrating on ourselves as women and others were talking about us as women, and that becomes quite-I don't know what the word would be, we don't have a word-"Nerviness"-like a heightened awareness that has a bit of fear in it and that talks about violence that's out there. As soon as you're singled out as a "woman," there's the spectre of violence.

• The problem of inside and outside-people are kind of incestuously bound inside and ... [issues of sexism] cannot be dealt with in isolation... It all comes to the surface. Do I want to know that? Do I want to know how X thinks of me in terms of me, in terms of my life. It is very scary. It is so much easier to do it outside because then you are one person, and the others, the social relations, are not intertwined. So it is relatively safe.

Women in one program talked around a table about what they see happening in their community-with other women and with themselves-as change begin to happen.

- They think of themselves in roles-the man's role and the woman's role-they don't know how to get out of that role.
- Because I was reared up at the time it was and boys were boys and girls were girls and this was what girls did and this is what boys did.
- But I think that's the way people see themselves: This is my life and this is what I'm here for...
- But I don't think we do. Well, I certainly don't. I can't speak for anyone else around the table. But I certainly don't. And my daughter doesn't.
- This is how they think: This is my life work. Look after the house, look after the man and that's it. But they're not of much other use. That's how they think of themselves. And this is what causes a lot of women to have such low self-esteem. They don't think they're important. We found that out through coming through this program. It took a while to really see the writing: That I am important. And what I do is important and what I say is important...
- I married back in the 50s. It was still the standards. You stay home and you look after hubby. And I did for seventeen years... I really feel that I got stuck in this role and don't know how to get out of it.
- I believed it all 'til I came over here. Supposed to be a mother, a good wife ...
- It's not easy letting go of it. Especially when you leave it so late in life...

• I always believed that women were the same as men. But you get into a rut and you can't get out and the opportunity don't arise, it will stay until you die. What can you do about it? I always believed since I was thirteen or fourteen that I was just as good as any man walking around... I thought I could do any job a man could do.

But, I just fell into a hole with the children. Waiting for my husband to pass me a five dollar bill to go to bingo if I was lucky and if he decided to stay home with the children, right? And I always thought he never **had** to stay there and that was it.

Until you get on your own and you got money, you're depending on him and that's it. Even the women who do know it. If they don't have a chance to get out of it they'll stay there ...

- I'm more my own woman than I ever was ...
- I still feel the same thing, but now it feels more important, that myself is more important than anything... It's only now I know what I really want to do. Without violence...
- This is it. If you don't see other women living differently then how would you know ...
- [So how did you change?] I think it was from seeing other people, especially from seeing A, she was my influence...
- She was my influence too. She sort of lives an independent life...
- And not just A, there's a lot of women living... there's M too...
- I'm still struggling with it...

Women literacy workers often talk about the tensions they feel in the fine lines between their roles as teacher, counsellor, facilitator. How can they work responsibly?

- And I think with my literacy students that the role that I take on with them in the class-which is confidence building, nurturing, encouraging, helping, all of those things-are things that they see women doing for them. And especially the male students are willing to take it from a woman... It's something that they expect from a woman.
- [We need] some kind of assistance that can help the group to be able to move through some of [the issues] without wearing us out. Because so many times we all felt as though-either we're tutors here or we're counsellors. And more and more we felt as though we were counsellors. And more and more we felt inadequate in that job. We were OK with the tutoring... But the counselling was really very fearful. Now that may be nothing more than the society that we live in that professionalizes everything, including women's experience. But it may be more than that.

• Very often the students see us as counsellors. We have to be able to draw the line. I cannot counsel a person who has been sexually abused. I cannot counsel a person who has been physically abused. I cannot counsel a person who has been in trouble with the law. I will talk to them. They can vent any emotion. They can just cry, they can talk for an hour. I'm here. What I will do is I have a list of service agencies. I'll say, look, these people will help you. I can't-in many ways I'm not allowed. If you look at it, I could get in very serious trouble if I counsel somebody that I thought was good advice and it turned out to be really horrible. I won't set myself up to do that. Not so much for my own protection but for the protection of the student. I mean I have to protect my job, of course, but I have to think "I don't really know about this." I have to always keep that in the back of my head. "I don't know about this."

• I have lots of qualms about mixing the role of teacher and therapist ... [with] the power relation between students and teachers that's already there, being given more power or taking more power than I already have is something I would steer away from... It's a very difficult relationship for me to be in. I don't have very much experience with having a therapist myself and I do have a negative view from lots of stories from women.

• When [teachers] ask a student to write and a student writes something that says my husband beat me up last night-the onus then immediately comes on that faculty. What does that teacher do---say, well, there are two grammatical and three spelling errors here? So I know the tremendous struggle that teachers are always going through.

- If I were 27 instead of 47--I'd probably be much more inclined to drop in with both feet. Think I was really going to make a big difference. And now I think I can give her this much. I can give her this kind of competency. I give her this kind of attention, this kind of help. The rest of her life, I might make a reflection or something, or just maybe even help her sort it out in her mind. But I'm always going to go back to literacy.
- I don't feel like my counselling role is to solve things in any way. But just to be a place where people feel they can talk about it and if they need to know something about where to go, that they know that they can ask. I feel like I can't solve everybody's problems and I feel really frustrated that... just individual band-aids but that's all I can cope with.

For many women, the issue of responsibility of the literacy worker -- to herself and to women she works with centres on the process of disclosure, of what we tell each other.

- But [group] got to be too much for us after a while. I got to the point that I couldn't because I didn't know what to do with it.
- [Women staff] were taking the hurt home with them. And they were sat down at home with this good meal, wondering if they had a meal at all.
- It really gets to be-
- You can't save the world.
- I know that but it doesn't help.

• If you're sitting down to me and you're telling me that, "I have been sexually abused since the time that I was a child, my mother was a prostitute, I have been a prostitute" and you're saying to me "what do I do, am I crazy... am I a dirty person, am I a terrible person?" I mean not having the experience of having helped women walk through some of that, it's where we really lacked.

Luckily enough, there were enough connections with women at the transition house so I could call up a feminist counsellor and say, "Look, this is what's going on. What do I say"---"Well, let them talk. Cool it. Don't send them to this person."

But it's like feeling that you're on the edge of a cliff all the time and not quite knowing what's being stirred up here and whether there is special assistance needed or whatever. Not knowing was the biggest...

• There's a little bit of fear on our part. What's going to be the point? They're going to tell us all this stuff and there's nothing we can do about it. They know there's nothing we can do about it. They just want to tell somebody else. And they don't have anybody they can talk to... Plus, we don't bring it outside...As if she sat down with her neighbour and said the same kind of thing well everybody on the street's going to know.

• They come in with a lot of excess baggage that they don't leave home, so they take it into you. We have no problem with that, but it gets to the point where you can't deal with it because you're not qualified to deal with it. You're not a social worker.

• There were days at the beginning that I left here and went home and I was just blown away. You couldn't talk to me home because all these problems that I wanted to solve. I wanted to make everybody happy. And I couldn't do it. It would be really nice to know how to even-not in a professional way-but some way to deal with it that it doesn't grab hold... I've heard stories and have dealt with a lot of hard mistakes. But you can't continue it.

• To be just left with those issues, with nowhere to go and no previous association with the women's movement, no framework to deal with it in, that would be pretty hard.

- I mean how much can you take in and then let it go. A lot of people can leave at five and forget it. I'm not one of those. And then when you have an outside life besides, it's like too much. And you need someone to tell you things so that you can learn how to let that go when you leave. So someone like that would be really good. Because someone like me...
- Yes, me too. You can't let it go. You bring it home with you.
- They tell you things that are really mind-boggling. Things that you read about and you don't tend to believe and then all of a sudden you're sitting with a person that's living that life-style and it's really hard
- even to feel comfortable with your response
- because you can make an awful big mistake. They can walk out through the door and you might never see them again or they took you wrong ...

It would seem that, in the end, one of the consequences of honouring women's stories, is that our definitions of literacy are radically challenged.

• Working with women and their lives in a literacy program challenges the definition of literacy in a very concrete way.

• This business of discussion versus supposedly literacy-reading and writing-gets very confusing for me. And I'm still trying to work it out. I'm beginning to feel that the point of view here is really that the expression, the verbal expression, is valued. But that varies depending on who you're with.

• The women who came to our evening upgrading-I know one that was even afraid to go out and now she talks and she visits around and almost seems a different person. Like when she talks with somebody... now she's outspoken. She just turned around...

I didn't see any improvements, great improvements, in her writing and reading skills, but her attitude and the way she acts towards the world is completely different now. And that is what I call literacy. She took control of part of her life that she wasn't controlling before. And to me that's literacy. Learning how to do things for yourself.

And we see a lot of that. It's almost like watching a garden grow. Flowers blooming. That's what excites me is to see other people find themselves, how to watch out for themselves, help themselves. Because, I think especially here, women have to learn how to be proud of themselves, to think they're special, build their self confidence. And once they get over that, they can almost do anything. If they want to do upgrading-they'll succeed. But if they keep on saying, "I'm just a woman. I'm just an Inuk. I don't have any skills..."

They are special, I think. Until we learn to help them see that, I don't think we can do much more. We can drill them and drill them with mathematics and stuff like that. But what good is that if they won't use it because they lack self confidence?

• I mean for me literacy means access to information... And sometimes the information is that there is nowhere you can go.

• I think that a lot of things get talked about here. They get talked about because something happens and everybody will talk about it on staff. So there seems to be concern. And yet, lots of times, whatever we've thought about or we've said we would do, doesn't go anywhere.

And, actually, like again, I think that some of it has to do with the fact that literacy isn't considered to be-like that isn't the main work of literacy, dealing with that stuff. Although we all know that we do, to some extent. But because it's not clearly acknowledged it's hard to find the time or the place or the way to go through what you wanted to do or what everybody said they wanted you to do. And to actually feel that you're dealing with what you're feeling. And so I think that we probably talk a lot more about issues than we actually act on here....

I don't really know how to make a transition. I haven't known how to make a transition from a place that was about dealing with that to a place that doesn't have any mechanism for dealing with it. Even though people talk about it...

3-2 The women's words, and the themes emerging from them, clarified the issues and assumptions behind this first phase of the research

The national advisory committee members articulated three assumptions and issues going into this research. First, they believed that learning can be an empowering experience for women. Their experience and their understanding of the experience of other women involved in literacy confirmed this belief.

Second, they also believed that women's lack of access to literacy is directly related to the structure of women's lives. The ways in which our lives are organized, the everyday realities that we face as we try to move through and beyond our experience, have a direct impact on whether and how we participate. This is true not only for women literacy students, but also women literacy workers-although at this point, it was understood that women literacy students would be the primary focus.

And, third, they believed that women's experience of violence-violence in all facets of our lives-is a significant factor in whether and how we participate.

Out of these assumptions came particular issues, particular concerns for future work.

First, we need to do action-oriented research to discover how it is that women become empowered as we learn. What is it that happens for us within that process?

Second, in order to better understand the ways in which the structure of women's lives restricts our access to participation, we need to document individual women's stories.

And, third, in order to understand how we can work with the violence in our lives, we need to develop a feminist approach that recognizes the power relations between women and men, and the gendered nature of our participation and lack of participation.

We all recognized the importance of naming our assumptions and our understanding of the issues, at the beginning of the research. We also recognized the importance of not allowing these assumptions and understandings to overpower what women might tell usor might be willing to tell us-about their lives.

For example, in terms of issues around women and violence, we did not consider it either ethical or realistic to expect a researcher to "parachute" into a community for a week,

gain the trust of women, and then leave without taking responsibility for following up on questions she may have raised. It was decided at this point, therefore, that the assumption of violence as a determining factor for women was "presumptive." We would wait to see what women identified during our time together.

As I went through the research process, I also developed assumptions and issues. First, I began to believe that it was crucial to include women literacy workers more centrally in the research focus. It became extraordinarily clear that the conditions of women's lives very much affect not only the participation of literacy workers, but the way in which they are able to understand and work with women students.

Second, one of the conditions that women literacy workers face is the gendered relations between themselves, their co-workers, their administration and their students. As they discussed the possibilities of participating in woman-positive activities, they felt a particular vulnerability about themselves as "women," as "other" than men, as targets for many different levels of violence.

Third, out of this particular understanding came the belief that programs that claim a learner-centred approach do not always demonstrate a woman-positive approach. It is possible to be learner-centred and continue to see "women" as "other" than learner.

This led to a fourth realization that turned into a very strong assumption. Rather than looking at the effect that programs have on women participants, perhaps we need to look at how programs are integrating their awareness of the experience of women.

There are the assumptions and issues identified during the research

Assumptions of the first phase identified by the advisory committee before the research	Issues of the first phase identified by the advisory committee before the research
women's lack of access to literacy is directly related to the structure of women's lives	the need to document individual women's stories to identify how the structure of women's lives restrict their participation in literacy programs
learning can be an empowering experience for women	the need for action-oriented research as a tool to identify women's experience within literacy

	programs
women's experience of violence in all facets of their lives hinders their participation in literacy programs	the need to develop a feminist approach to facilitating women's participation in program research If- Issues of the first phase added by the researcher during the research
Assumptions of the first phase added by the researcher during the research	Issues of the first phase identified by the advisory committee before the research
women "participants" include women literacy workers as well as students, and those women experience, in their work as well as in their homes and community, the reality of living in a sexist society	the need to provide expertise and assistance to programs-particularly mixed-gender programs-that are involved in, or want to be involved in, providing woman-positive learning settings
women who participate in programs-particularly in mixed- gender programs-are in a vulnerable position when they explore woman-positive learning activities	the need to recognize concerns about the experience and participation of men as they relate to women in the programs
programs that have a learner- centred approach are not necessarily woman-positive	the need to understand the role of feminist critical consciousness in the context of literacy programming
not only can literacy programs affect women's lives, but women's lives must affect the practices of literacy programs	the need to document the experience of literacy programs involved in woman-positive learning activities

When programs-workers, students, administrators, board members, funders- become aware of the conditions of women's lives, what do they do? Do they change their programs and themselves so that women's experience is included? And, if they do, how is that inclusion allowed to influence what actually happens in the program?

Or, does women's experience continue to be marginalized within the program, not changing it? And, if women's experience continues to be marginalized, how is that exclusion allowed to influence what actually happens in the program?

Out of these assumptions, and the questions arising from them, came the identification of several issues.

First, women in programs, especially mixed-gender programs, need support in providing woman-positive learning settings.

Second, the reality of women's experience within these programs means that men's experience and participation needs to be recognized, identified, understood and acted upon-preferably by men with men.

Third, the awareness that learner-centred programs are not necessarily woman-positive means that we need to understand how feminist critical consciousness can be applied to the context of literacy programming.

And, fourth, we need to document the experience of those literacy programs that are involved in woman-positive programming so that we can learn more about how to go forward with more understanding, ease and effectiveness.

3.3 Reflecting on the themes, issues and assumptions led to certain interpretations of this first phase work

When I remember my conversations with women across the country, hear the words in which they told their stories and recall the stories that were not put into words nor onto tape, I want to ask one particular question: How can we ensure that the disempowering conditions in women's lives are not replicated by the activities-either conscious or unconscious-of literacy programs?

As feminists, we know that becoming conscious of the ways in which we work must begin with an investigation of our own experience. We can move from the intentional understanding of our concrete experience to reflect on how it connects with the experience of others. Through an analysis of the way our experience is constructed within the context of our social and political realities, we can begin to develop a vision of how things might change. We can then move into an active exploration of change and its implications.

If literacy workers are not given the opportunity to do this kind of reflection, analysis, visioning and strategic work within their own lives and within their programs, then how

can they support other participants in those programs to work on the same issues?

Women as literacy workers and as literacy students share a common experience. While it is important that they also recognize the differences in their experience-the different locations of their privilege and oppression-the commonalities must be understood in order that the programs can work on the level of social and political as well as individual change.

Just as students learn from their experience, so do workers teach or facilitate from their experience. We cannot take an appropriate leadership or animating role in working with women in our communities until we have explored the meaning of our own lives.

Yet, to do that exploration within a workplace without support is asking women literacy workers to put themselves in a very threatening situation.

It is difficult to help others discover the strength of their voices when we are speaking in whispers ourselves.

As researchers, literacy workers, advocates, we all need to have the support of others as well as the personal and technical skills to move on. Especially if we are going to work on issues of violence toward women-economic, intellectual, spiritual, emotional and physical violence-we need shared insight and support, as well as resources.

In the first stage of this research we have become more aware of the impact woman-positive initiatives might have on program literacy workers and students. Those who participated in this first stage seem to be clear that they want and need a "next step" beyond looking at and reflecting on what is already happening. They want to find out, in a more systematic way, what actually happens when they introduce and/or maintain woman-positive, learner-centred activities in their programs and organizations.

What has happened in the past is that woman-positive initiatives have been undertaken in different programs across the country. In some cases, they have been considered successful. In others, they have not.

However, the goals and objectives, planning processes, programming and evaluations have not been undertaken in a way that allows others to share in the process. The lack of systematic documentation or, in some cases, conscious planning, means that the usefulness for the particular program is limited or, for the wider literacy community, lost.

It is imperative that the research component-the investigation and documentation of the impact of these activities on the program-receive financial support. With financial support for the training of literacy workers in research theory and methods, for planning, for conscious investigation of the process, for documentation and for evaluation, woman-

positive program initiatives might realistically have a research component that will make them more useful for others as well as more effective for those involved.

In order to begin envisioning the second stage of the research project, we have to remember the funding structure under which we are currently working. The National Literacy Secretariat does not fund program activities, although it will fund projects such as research, material production, awareness and training. Unless other funding is available to the program for doing the actual activity, we would need to consider that:

- the activity would be part of ongoing operations of the program or organization, and
- the research component would be supported by project funding from the National Literacy Secretariat in a proposal sponsored and coordinated by CCLOW.

3.4 These questions focus the understanding coming out of the questions, the issues and the assumptions

- What happens within programs when woman-positive activities take place with the support of administration or management, staff, volunteers and students? How do the programs change?
- What can we learn about "learner-centred" and "woman-positive" approaches by carrying out research around the activities outlined above? How are they different in theory and in practice?
- What is the experience of women who participate in woman-positive activities within literacy programs? What is the experience of those who do not participate?

4-1 The questions that can inform the process of the second, action stage of the research

- What do we mean when we talk about "woman-positive" activities?
- What does it mean to consciously include woman-positive activities within programs and organizations?
- How do we negotiate doing woman-positive activities within our workplaces?
- What training, resources, structures and processes do we need?
- What will particular activities look like? How can they be "researched"?
- How can the women, the program and the community benefit?
- What are the costs to the women, to the program and to the community within which both are located?
- What can we learn in order to go forward in the future with increased benefits and reduced costs?
- How can we share our learning with other members of the literacy community across the country?

4 What do we want to do next in this research? What would the second participatory stage look like?

The first stage of this research indicates that, building on the theoretical base and experiential reports of women's experience, we can now plan, implement, document and evaluate the process of introducing and maintaining woman-positive activities in a variety of programs.

The activities will be consciously chosen as woman-positive and they will be undertaken as an action/participatory research project. This means that we will have an opportunity to learn about the experience of women and programs in a way that will allow us to analyze the results and strategize for future activities that benefit both the programs and women literacy students and workers.

The approach suggested for the second stage focuses on how the women who participate in literacy programs-women literacy students and women literacy workers- can affect change within their programs. The methodology suggested allows them to plan, implement, document and evaluate a woman-positive activity that fits within their

program mandate and structure.

These activities will require varying degrees of commitment from the administration or management of the program, from the staff and from the students. However, they will all ensure that the experience of women becomes visible within the program or organization.

Not all the programs may be able to actually implement or complete planned activities. Because this is a research project, these activities will not be seen as "failures." There will be much we will be able to learn from the actual process. This is one of the pragmatic reasons for choosing an action/ participatory research methodology.

An action/participatory research methodology also means that the programs, through initial contacts and the training workshops, will be closely involved in the planning process for the research as well as the planning, implementation, documentation and evaluation of the activities and the second stage project as a whole.

Because of the action/participatory research model, those who already participate in the programs will carry through the activities. These participants will be expecting to see change and resistance to change because of the activities. The documentation of the process of change and the resistance to change, and the analysis of the documentation will form the final product of the research.

4.2 The commitment of CCLOW for the second stage

The sponsorship by CCLOW will include:

- project development and administration,
- active outreach for participants,
- formation of a national advisory committee, and
- hiring the research coordinator.

The research co-ordinator will provide two women contact literacy participants from each program with:

- assistance in developing administrative, staff and student support,
- background materials that provide a theoretical framework for the work,
- three participatory workshops for program participants to provide training in research methods, a process for choosing activities and a process for planning an activity,
- training and a process for documentation of the activity within the programs,
- training and a process for evaluation of the activity and the project as a whole,
- two teleconferences for information and support to the contact women,
- co-ordination of information, communication and documentation, and
- production of the final product of the project as decided upon by participants.

4.3 Possible program activities for the second stage

- a women's support group in which both literacy students and workers could discuss how their work in the program has affected their lives and how they see their lives affecting the program
- planning and holding a two-day workshop for all the participants of a program on the role of women workers and students in the past, present and future
- a women-only class or group that meets regularly to work on literacy skills in the context of their lives in their particular community (The curriculum would be developed by the group as a whole.)
- using the development and introduction of a sexual harassment policy as a piece of curriculum that would raise gender issues in a program or organization
- reviewing and selecting some literacy materials that would be of particular interest to women and introducing them to the program or organization
- developing a video in which women literacy students and workers discuss how
 and why they are involved in literacy work and how they see their experience, as
 women, affecting the program
- women literacy workers and students producing a collection of writing, drawing, photography, etc., that talks about their lives
- developing and implementing a planning process that will lead to some formal consideration of women's experience within the program and/or organization
- organizing a group to take part in International Women's Day activities, including some participation in the organizing by the women's community to help raise consciousness around literacy and publicity materials

4-4 The commitment of the programs that agree to participate in the second stage

The programs that would be considered and encouraged to participate are those that indicate a willingness and an ability to:

- commit themselves to an up-front, woman-positive activity and
- approach this activity, for a period of time, as action research.

A deliberate effort will be made to ensure that programs involved in the research project come from a variety of geographic locations, program perspectives and community sizes.

Organized and active outreach will be done using the extensive CCLOW membership to facilitate the participation of community-based programs, one-to-one volunteer programs, workplace programs, bridging programs, immigrant women's programs (including mother

tongue or English as a Second Language), union programs, and college and school board programs.

The participating literacy workers within the program

Two women - two literacy workers or, in some cases perhaps, one literacy worker and one other program participant (student, worker, board member, volunteer) - will need to agree to be the contacts in the program or organization. They will commit themselves to be involved in the national workshops and in the planning, implementation, documentation and evaluation of the activity within their program or organization.

As part of the planning for the activity, the contact women would receive assistance in negotiating the time for participation as part of their job description. It is important to note that the time required for the research component of the activity-the half-day per week spent on documentation, evaluation and the participation in three training workshops-will receive financial support of \$ 150/day. The resources and salary for the actual activity will need to come out of the program.

Training for action research with woman-positive activities

The contact women will be brought together from interested programs and organizations to look at their own experience as women and as literacy program participants.

In the first workshop they will be given an opportunity and the tools to reflect upon their experience and understand how that experience connects with the experience of other women-those present and those available to us through written stories of their lives. Moving to an analysis of how our experience as women fits within our particular programs and organizations, our communities, and our political and social realities, we can begin to develop a vision of how we would like to work with other participants in our literacy programs and communities.

At this point, we will begin to imagine a research project within each setting that will provide for a consciously woman-positive activity that could be used as a catalyst for change within the program and the larger community. We will discuss how to plan, implement, document and evaluate such an activity within the context of action research research that will ultimately be useful to the particular program and the general literacy community, as well as to the individuals involved.

The program's agreement to take part in the research activity

The literacy workers, the literacy students and the administration (management or board) will all need to agree to a statement of intent around the activity, recognizing it as a woman-positive activity and also as a piece of action/participatory research. All the

participants must be willing to see the activity as potentially changing the program as a whole, not simply as a way to have a positive impact on individual students or workers. The women's voices that emerge from the experience must be seen as tools to re-structure the program so that it is more inclusive of this experience.

It will not be enough to simply listen to women. Given the nature of action research, if the words cannot be accepted and worked with as transformational, they will need to be consciously rejected. That will have implications for the program-the literacy workers perhaps even more than the students.

The activity will be determined by the participants in the program or organization---the literacy students, literacy workers and administration. It is expected that some will take place over a three or six-month period, others over twelve months.

Involvement in the decision-making and research documentation process

The program will have to agree that both literacy students and literacy workers will be involved in the decision-making process that leads to the choice of the activity, in terms of content **and** process. Also, they will both need to be involved in the documentation and evaluation process.

Everyone involved in the activity will have to agree that the documentation of the research process will be available to share with other literacy students, workers and administrators and to be a part of the final project report. Do you know of any programs

that might be interested in participating

in the second stage of this research project?

Please let them know what is happening-

or give CCLOW a call at (416) 699-1909.

It is expected that the documentation for the activities will include reflection and analysis on the process, as well as on materials, and will possibly include videos, policy, photo stories and writings. Some funding has been estimated for this. It is hoped that some activities may receive funding from other sources for some of the final materials.

5 Appendices

5-1 The Canadian Congress of Learning Opportunities for Women (CCLOW) the sponsor

The Canadian Congress for Learning Opportunities for Women is a national, voluntary, feminist organization with networks in every province and territory. CCLOW advocates equality between women and men by promoting equal participation in our educational, political, economic, legal, social, and cultural systems. To overcome discrimination based on gender, age, race, class, ethnicity, and sexual orientation, CCLOW focuses on improving educational and learning systems.

To achieve its mandate, CCLOW:

- advocates for the improvement of educational and learning programs, and consults with governments and institutions,
- researches women's learning issues,
- develops programs and learning tools, creates and implements innovative learning models.
- shares and exchanges information, and
- organizes public education, networks, and co-operative activities.

Since 1979, CCLOW has encouraged the development of literacy policy, practice, materials and programs that will respond to the learning needs of women and the reality of their daily lives. It has represented and articulated the particular needs and concerns of adult women learners when working in coalition with other organizations. CCLOW has sponsored and produced several research studies and reports about women's experience with adult literacy and basic education programs.

Its Learning Resource Centre has increased its holdings of materials related to women and literacy and responds to requests for information from across Canada.

The CCLOW 1987 brochure **let's talk about women and literacy** identifies some of the barriers which block women's participation in literacy programs and proposes ways in which literacy programs can be made more accessible to women. The CCLOW project **Literacy materials for womens** in the final stages of production. It identifies, evaluates and lists Canadian English literacy materials for women.

CCLOW research on women and literacy has already identified many issues

In the 1970s, Dorothy MacKeracher and others produced **Adult basic education for women:** A model for policy development. In the early 1980s, Paula De Coito produced **Women and adult basic education in Canada:** An exploratory study. These studies documented the needs of women students:

- flexible program schedules,
- curriculum and literacy materials,
- affordable and available childcare and transportation, and
- accessible counselling and other support services.

In 1988, Susan Wismer produced **Women's education and training in Canada: A policy analysis** that indicates that women's participation in education and training programs and in positive employment requires policy development and resources for policy implementation. The priority policy changes include:

- equal pay for work of equal value and
- equal employment opportunity.

However, policy change is not enough. Wismer outlines the essential need for restructuring work and family in formal and non-formal sectors of the economy. CCLOW, she says, must focus on the needs of doubly disadvantaged women-women who are poor, who have low educational levels, who are disabled, who are immigrants, who are members of the native peoples or who come from geographically isolated areas.

5-2 CCLOW national advisory committee and the researcher

CCLOW has an executive director, Aisla Thomson, who works out of the main office in Toronto. She developed the project with Gladys Watson, who was on staff with CCLOW at the time, and with an advisory committee from across the country.

The advisory committee members are CCLOW members active as literacy and upgrading workers, as researchers in the area of women's literacy and upgrading, and as executive members of the organization.

Pramila Aggarwal is trying to make sense of the multi-dimensional location of immigrant women in Canadian society through her work on the ground and academic research. She has been involved with education and training of immigrant women workers for seven years. She is on the staff of Metro Labour Education Centre, Toronto.

Evelyn Battell has been an Adult Basic Education instructor for 14 years and is concerned with providing options and dignity for both instructors and students.

Dawn Elliot is a member of CCLOW's Board of Directors. For over 10 years she has developed and implemented community programs for teen mums, transient women and youth.

Frances Ennis is a co-founder of Rabbitown Literacy Program, a community-based adult literacy program in St. John's. For the last 15 years she has been involved in community development and adult education.

Lynn Fogwill is a "founding mother" of CCLOW, a past board member and current NWT-CCLOW Coordinator. She is Manager for Literacy and Adult Education programs for the Department of Education, Government of the Northwest Territories and is deeply committed to social justice work, including women's issues in Canadian society.

Michele Kuhlmann is on staff with East End Literacy, Toronto, and is particularly concerned with literacy issues in the family.

Kathleen Rockhill teaches feminist studies in the Department of Adult Education at the Ontario Institute for Studies in Education, Toronto. She has done research in literacy since 1972.

Susan Witter is Dean of Continuing Education at Fraser Valley College in British Columbia. She is a past president of CCLOW. Susan has a long-standing commitment to promoting access to learning opportunities for educationally disadvantaged women.

Two other women, members of CCLOW and well-versed in research issues for women, literacy and training, also played an advisory role at a crucial time in the process. **Elaine Gaber-Katz** and **Susan Wismer** worked with the project for a day of consultation and clarification at the midway mark of the data collection.

Although these women cannot be held responsible for the final product, their experience and response is embedded in the work. The researcher is **Betty-Ann Lloyd**, a white, middle-class woman with experience in secretarial work, weaving, school bus driving, mothering, make-work projects, community journalism, CBC radio current affairs, lovering, university lecturing, feminist community activism, graduate work in the social organization of knowledge, volunteer tutoring in a community-based literacy program, policy research in literacy, bureaucratic co-ordination of provincial community and workplace literacy activities, freelance research, and clear language and design consulting. She has lived almost all of her adult life in Nova Scotia-in rural Cape Breton and in Halifax. She was born on the prairies and raised in the suburbs of many large cities across Canada. She is currently a Ph.D. student at Dalhousie University doing interdisciplinary work in feminist research, critical theory, language and power, social welfare policies and training opportunities for women who are single mothers on social assistance.

5-3 A beginning bibliography

Women and upgrading

Adam-MacLellan, Barb. 1990. Nindal Kwanindur. In Gossip: A spoken history of women in the North, Mary Crnkovich, ed., 181-190. Ottawa: Canadian Arctic Resources Committee.

Atkinson, Tannis, Anne Moore and Tracy Westell. 1989. "How I spent my summer vacation": Letters between literacy workers. **Canadian Woman Studies** 9 (3 & 4): 104-111.

Beckelman, Dana. 1989. Defining a feminist literacy. **Canadian Woman Studies** 9 (3 & 4): 130-133.

Bennett, Adrian T. 1983. Discourses of power, the dialectics of understanding, the power of literacy. **Journal of Education** 165: 53-74.

Buckley, Peggy and Penny Carriere. 1989. Literacy for change: Northern Saskatchewan literacy programmes. **Canadian Woman Studies 9** (3 & 4): 73-76.

De Coito, Paula. 1984. Women and adult basic education in Canada: An exploratory study. Toronto: CCLOW.

Dehli, Kari. 1990. Training, accreditation or professionalism? **Literacy on the move,** January: 10-11.

Dyck, Anne and Lyda Fuller. 1989. East Elgin literacy assessment project. **Canadian Woman Studies** 9 (3 & 4): 50-51.

Fingeret, Arlene. 1984. **Adult literacy education: Current and future directions**. Columbus, OH: ERIC. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 246 308)

--- 1983. Social network: A new perspective on independence and illiterate adults. **Adult Education Quarterly** 33 (Spring): 133-46.

Gaber-Katz, Elaine and Jenny Horsman. 1989. Is it her voice if she speaks their words? **Canadian Woman Studies** 9 (3 & 4): 117-120.

Hewitt, Priscilla. 1989. Educating Priscilla. Canadian Woman Studies 9 (3 & 4): 12-14.

Hickey, Shirley. 1989. "I'm very glad the program is here": Rabbit- town Community Association Adult Literacy Program. **Canadian Woman Studies** 9 (3 & 4): 49.

Horsman, Jenny. 1989a. Discourses of il/literacy: A literature review. Canadian Woman Studies 9 (3 & 4): 123-127.

- ---. 1989b. The social dimension of literacy. Canadian Woman Studies 9 (3 & 4): 78-81.
- ---. 1989c. From the learner's voice: Women's experience of il/ literacy. **In Adult literacy perspectives**, Maurice C. Taylor and James Draper, eds., 365-374. Toronto: Culture Concepts.
- ---. 1988. Something in my mind besides the everyday: I1/literacy in women's lives in a Nova Scotian county. Ed.D. thesis, University of Toronto.

Kazemak, Frances E. 1988. Women and adult literacy: Considering the other half of the house. **Lifelong learning: An omnibus of practice and research**. 11 (4): 23,24,15.

--- . 1983. Adult literacy education: An ethical endeavor. **Adult Literacy and Basic Education** 8: 61-72.

Kingsbury, Martha C. 1989. "I think I got the right": A look at the issues of literacy with three parenting teens. **Canadian Woman Studies** 9 (3 & 4): 43-45.

Lampert, Jo. 1989. Todos a alphabetizer: Women and literacy in Nicaragua. **Canadian Woman Studies** 9 (3 & 4): 101-103.

Let's talk about women and literacy. 1989. Toronto: CCLOW.

Levine, Kenneth. 1982. Functional literacy: Fond illusions and false economies. **Harvard Educational Review** 52: 249-266.

Lifeline to literacy: People with disabilities speak out. 1989. Toronto: Ontario Education Communications Authority.

Lloyd, Betty-Ann. 1989. Adult literacy, basic education and academic upgrading in Nova Scotia: The role of the community college. Halifax: Literacy Nova Scotia.

---.1987. Hearing women into speech: The feminist press and the women's community. **Canadian Woman Studies** 8 (1): 29- 32.

MacKeracher, Dorothy. 1989. Women and literacy. **In Adult literacy perspectives,** Maurice C. Taylor and James Draper, eds., 377-386. Toronto: Culture Concepts.

MacKeracher, Dorothy et al. n.d. Adult basic education for women: A model for policy development. Toronto: CCLOW.

McBeth, Sally. 1989. Creating curriculum: A learner-centred approach. In Adult literacy

perspectives, Maurice C. Taylor and James Draper, eds., 145-153. Toronto: Culture Concepts.

McBeth, Sally and Vivian Stollmeyer. 1989. East End Literacy: A woman's discussion group. **Canadian Woman Studies** 9 (3 & 4): 52-55.

Meisenzahl, Anne. 1989. Women, literacy and construction. **Canadian Woman Studies** 9 (3 & 4): 46-47.

Murphy, Brian K. 1990. Literacy in the land of Oz: Panacea or smokescreen. Literacy on the move, January: 14-15.

Ng, Winnie, with Pramila Agarwal and Brenda Wall. 1989. Breaking chains: Immigrant women workers and literacy. **Canadian Woman Studies** 9 (3 & 4): 41-42.

Park, Barb. 1989. **Report to investigate links between illiteracy and abuse in women.** Warman, SK: Prairie West Regional College.

Rockhill, Kathleen. 1989a. e-MAN-ci-patory literacy: An essay review of Literacy: Reading the word and the world. **Canadian Woman Studies** 9 (3 & 4): 113-115.

---.1989b. The other city. . Where no one reads. Canadian Women Studies 9 (3&4): 5-9

----.1987a. Gender, language and the politics of literacy. **British Journal of Sociology** 8 (2): 153-167.

---.1987b. Literacy as threat/desire: Longing to be SOMEBODY. **In Women and education: A Canadian Perspective**, Jane Gaskell and Arlene McLaren, eds. Calgary: Detselig.

Scott, H. 1984. **Working your way to the bottom: The feminization of poverty**. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.

Shirali, Kishwar Ahmed. 1989. Ganga Devi: A question of literacy and development. **Canadian Woman Studies** 9 (3 & 4): 89- 91.

Statistics Canada. 1990. The reading skills of adult Canadians- Preliminary data highlights. Ottawa: National Literacy Secretariat.

Why should we become literate? 1987. Literacy in industrialized countries: A focus on practice. Toronto: International Council of Adult Education.

Witter, Susan. 1984. Learning opportunities for educationally disadvantaged women: Will current policies and directions provide new options? **Educating for change: Women in the next decade.** Toronto: CCLOW.

Women and Literacy Issue. 1989. Canadian Woman Studies 9 (3 & 4): 135 pp.

Women and literacy: What are the hidden issues? 1987. Literacy in industrialized countries: A focus on practice. Toronto: International Council of Adult Education. 71-72.

Women and education

Adamson, Nancy, Linda Briskin and Margaret McPhail. 1989. Feminist organizing for change: The contemporary women's movement in Canada. Toronto: Oxford University Press.

Annas, Pamela J. Silences: Feminist language research and the teaching of writing. In **Teaching writing: Pedagogy, gender and equity,** Cynthia L. Caywood and Gillian R. Overing, eds., 3-17. New York: State of New York Press.

Avebury Research and Consulting Ltd. 1986. **Decade of promise: An assessment of Canadian women's status in education, training and employment, 1976-1985**Toronto: CCLOW

Belenky, M. F., et al. 1986. Women's ways of knowing: The development of self, voice and mind. New York: Basic Books.

Bunch, Charlotte and Sandra Pollock. 1983. Learning our way: Essays in feminist education. Trumansburg, NY: The Crossing Press.

Cranney, Brenda and Gwen Jenkins. 1989. Feminist pedagogy: A short bibliography. **Canadian Woman Studies** 9 (3 & 4): 121-122.

Crnkovich, Mary, ed. 1989. **Gossip: A spoken history of women in the north.** Ottawa: Canadian Arctic Resource Committee.

Cully, M. and C. Portuges, eds. 1985. **Gendered subjects: The dynamics of feminist teaching.** Boston: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

Dance, Terry and Susan Witter. 1988. The privatization of training: Women pay the cost. **Women's Education des femmes**, 5 (2): 14-17.

Educating for change: Women in the next decade. 1984. Toronto: CCWW.

Education for women and girls: Recommendations for achieving equality. 1989. Toronto: CCLOW.

Forest, Marsha and James Morrison. 1989. The women of Frontier College. **Canadian Woman Studies** 9 (3 & 4): 21-23.

Gaskell, Jane. 1987. Gender and skill. **In Critical pedagogy and cultural power**, David Livingstone, ed., 137- 153. Toronto: Garamond.

Gaskell, Jane and Arlene McLaren, eds. 1987. Women and education: A Canadian perspective. Calgary: Detselig Enterprises.

Gilligan, Carol. 1982. In a different voice: Psychological theory and women's development. Cambridge MA: Harvard University.

Kolb, David A 1984. Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice- Hall.

Lewis, Magda and Rogers Simon. 1986. A discourse not intended for her: Learning and teaching with patriarchy. **Harvard Educational Review** 56 (November): 457-72.

MacKeracher, Dorothy. 1978. **Roadblocks to women's learning: Issues for advocacy**. Toronto: CCLOW.

Marshall, Barbara L. 1988. Feminist theory and critical theory. **The Canadian Review of Sociology and Anthropology** 25 (2):

McCarthy, Bernice. 1980. The 4Mat system: Teaching learning styles with right/left mode techniques. Chicago: Excel, Inc.

Report of the CLMPC Task Forces on the Labour Force Development Strategy. 1990. Ottawa: Canadian Labour Market and Productivity Centre.

Rich, Adrienne. 1979. Taking women students seriously. **In On lies, secrets and silence: Selected prose 1966-78,** Adrienne Rich, 237-245. New York: W.W. Norton.

Smith, Donna M. and David A Kolb. 1986. User's guide for the Learning Style Inventory: A manual for teachers and trainers. Boston: McBer and Company.

Spender, Dale. 1982. **Invisible women: The schooling scandal**. London: Writers and Readers Publishing Cooperative.

Thompson, Jane L. 1984. Changing the world and re-inventing life for women. **Educating for change: Women in the next decade.** Toronto: CCLOW.

Thompson, Jane L. 1983. Learning liberation: Women's response to men's education. London: Croom Helm.

Weedon, C. 1987. Feminist practice and poststructuralist theory. Oxford: Blackwell.

Weiler, K 1988. **Teaching women for change**. South Hadley, MA: Bergin & Garvey Publishers, Inc.

Wismer, Susan. 1988. Women's education and training in Canada: A policy analysis. Toronto: CCLOW.

Women and consciousness

Bannister, Donna. 1984. Talking through class. Fireweed 19: 86.

Baxter, Sheila. 1988. **No way to live: Poor women speak out.** Vancouver: New Star Books.

Brand, Dionne and Krisantha Sri Bhaggiyadatta. 1986. Rivers have sources, trees have roots: Speaking of racism Toronto: Cross Cultural Communication Centre.

Brookfield, Stephen D. 1987. **Developing critical thinkers: Challenging adults to explore alternative ways of thinking and acting.** San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.

Crknovich, Mary, ed. 1990. **Gossip: A spoken history of women in the North.** Ottawa: Canadian Arctic Resources Committee.

Finson, Shelley Davis. 1985. On the other side of silence: Patriarchy, consciousness and silence-Some women's experience of theological education. D. Min. thesis, Boston University, Boston.

Freire, Paulo 1987. Literacy: Reading the word and the world. South Hadley, MA: Bergin & Garvey.

Frye, Marilyn. 1983. **The politics of reality: Essays in feminist theory**. Trumansburg, NY: Crossing Press.

Hanisch, Carol.1975, 1978. An experience with worker consciousness-raising. In Feminist revolution, Redstockings of the Women's Liberation Movement, 180-185. New York: Random House.

Hooks, bell. 1988. **Talking back: Thinking feminist, thinking black.** Toronto: Between the Lines.

Morton, Nelle. 1985a. The rising woman consciousness in a male language structure. **In The journey is home**, Nelle Morton, 11-30. Boston: Beacon Press.

---.1985b. Journal jottings. **In The journey is home**, Nelle Morton, 204-205. Boston: Beacon Press.

Sarachild, Kathie.1975, 1978. Consciousness-raising: A radical weapon. In Feminist revolution, Redstockings of the Women's Liberation Movement, 144-150. New York: Random House.

Silman, Janet, as told to. 1987. **Enough is enough: Aboriginal women speak out**. Toronto: Women's Press.

Workshops for feminist consciousness

Barndt, Deborah, Feme Cristall and dian marino. 1982. **Getting there: Producing photo stories with immigrant women.** Toronto: Between the Lines.

Bremner, Jane, Noreen Crawford, Beth Mairs and Elaine Minsky. 1988. Action on health barriers: Health promotion with low income women Toronto: Opportunity for Advancement.

Ennis, Frances and Debbie Sherrard-Women's Health Education Project of Newfoundland and Labrador. 1984. **Women's resource kit.** Halifax: Health and Welfare Canada.

Hope, Anne and Sally Timmel. 1984, 1989. **Training for transformation: A handbook for community workers**. Zimbabwe: Mambo Press.

Hughes, Nyrn, Yvonne Johnson and Yvette Perreault. 1984. **Stepping out of line: A workbook on lesbianism and feminism**. Vancouver: Press Gang.

NiCarthy, Ginny. 1982. **Getting free: A handbook for women in abusive relationships**. Seattle: Seal Press. (*This book has been published in a highly readable form for women with basic or intermediate reading skills.)

Sarachild, Kathie.1975, 1978. A program for feminist consciousness-raising. In Feminist revolution, Redstockings of the Women's Liberation Movement, 202-203. New York: Random House.

Thomas, Barb. 1987. Multiculturalism at work: A guide to organizational change.

Toronto: YWCA

Wheeler, Charlene Eldridge and Peggy L. Chinn. 1984. **Peace and power: A handbook of feminist process.** Buffalo: Margaret daughters, Inc.

Women's Self-Help Network. 1984. **Working collectively**. Campbell River: Ptarmigan Press.

Women's Self-Help Network. 1984. Working together for change: Women's self-help handbook. Campbell River: Ptarmigan Press.

Women and research

Barnsley, Jan and Diana Ellis, with Helga Jacobson and Cheryl Dahl. 1987. **Action research for women's groups.** Vancouver: Women's Research Centre.

Brown, L. David and Rajesh Tandon. 1983. Ideology and political economy in inquiry: Action research and participatory research. **The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science** 19 (3): 277-294.

Bunch, Charlotte and Sandra Pollock. 1983. Learning our way: Essays in feminist education. Trumansburg, NY: The Crossing Press.

Callaway, H. 1981. Women's perspectives: Research as revision. In P. Reagan and J. Rowen, eds. **Human Inquiry: A sourcebook of new paradigm research**, 457-471. London: John Wiley & Sons.

Fargo, Jean E. and Marilyn Collins. 1989. Learning from researching: Literacy practitioners and assessment of adults' reading progress. **Journal of Reading** November: 120-125.

Gaskell, Jane and Arlene McLaren, eds. 1987. Women and education: A Canadian perspective. Calgary: Detselig Enterprises.

Harding, Sandra. 1987. Feminism and methodology. Indiana University Press.

hooks, bell. 1984. Feminist theory: From margin to centre. Boston: South End Press.

Kirby, Sandra and Kate McKenna. 1989. Experience. Research. Social change: Methods from the margins. Toronto: Garamond Press.

Lugones, Maria C. and Elizabeth V. Spelman. 1986. Have we got a theory for you! Feminist theory, cultural imperialism and the demand for "The Woman's Voice." **In**

Women and Values: Readings in recent feminist philosophy, Marilyn Pearsall, ed., 19-31. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Publishing Company.

Maguire, Patricia. 1987. **Different lenses for viewing reality. Doing participatory research: A feminist approach.** Amhers: The Centre for International Education, University of Massachusetts.

McNiff, Jean. 1988. **Action research: Principles and practice**. London: MacMillan Education.

McRobbie, Angela. 1982. The politics of feminist research: Between talk, text and action. **Feminist Review** 12: 46-57.

Mies, Maria. 1986. Towards a methodology for feminist research. In Gloria Bowles and Renata Duelli Klein, eds., **Theories of Women's Studies.** London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

Roberts, Helen, ed. 1981. **Doing feminist research**. New York: Routledge.

Smith, Dorothy. 1987. The everyday world as problematic: A feminist sociology. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Stanley, Liz, ed. 1990. Feminist praxis: Research, theory, and epistemology in feminist sociology. New York: Routledge.

Stanley, Liz and Sue Wise. 1983. **Breaking out: Feminist consciousness and feminist research**. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.